
 

 

 

 

JESUIT MISSIONARIES IN BAJA CALIFORNIA, 1697–1768 

Juan Armesto, Cristobal, Spain 

Victoriano Arnés, Graus, Spain [*] 

Francisco María Badillo, Spain 

Johann Jakob Baegert, Schlettstadt, Alsace [*] 

Juan María Baldasúa, Michoacan, Mexico 

Miguel del Barco, Italy [*] 

Johann Xavier Bischoff, Glatz, Bohemia [*] 

Jaime Bravo, Spain [**] 

Lorenzo Carranco, Cholula, Mexico [**] 

Juan José Díaz, Ixtlan, Mexico [*] 

Jacobo Druet, Turin, Italy [**] 

Franz Benno Ducrue, Munich, Germany [*] 

Francisco Escalante, Jaen, Spain [*] 

Francisco Xavier Franco, Spain [*] 

Andrés García, Spain [**] 

Joseph Gasteiger, Leoben, Austria [**] 

Adam Gilg, Römerstadt, Moravia 

William Gordon, Scotland 

Clemente Guillén, Zacatecas, Mexico [**] 

javascript://
javascript://
javascript://
javascript://
javascript://
javascript://
javascript://
javascript://
javascript://
javascript://
javascript://
javascript://
javascript://
javascript://


Eberhard Hellen, Prague, Bohemia [**] 

José de la Hera, Spain 

Lambert Hostel, Münstereifel, Germany [*] 

Franz Ináma von Sternegg, Vienna, Austria [*] 

Ferdinand Konschak, Varasdin, Croatia [**] 

Wenceslaus Linck, Joachimsthal, Bohemia [*] 

Agustín Luyando, Mexico 

Juan María Luyando, Mexico 
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Francisco María Masariegos, Mexico 

Julián Mayorga, Mexico [**] 

Jerónimo Minutuli, Italy 

Julián Mugázabal, Alava, Spain 

Ignacio María Nápoli, Italy 

Pietro Nascimbén, Venice, Italy [**] 

Karl Neumayr, Bavaria, Germany [**] 

Francisco Osorio, Mexico 

Francisco Peralta, Spain 

Francisco María Píccolo, Sicily [**] 

Georg Rheds, Coblenz, Germany [*] 

José Rondero, Spain 

José María Rotea, Mexico [*] 

Juan María Salvatierra, Milan, Italy 
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Sebastián Sistiaga, Tepuscolula, Oaxaca, Mexico 

Juan María Sotelo, Spain 

Nicolás Támaral, Seville, Spain [**] 

Sigismundo Táraval, Lodi, Italy 

Anton Tempis, Olmütz, Moravia [**] 

Ignatz Tirs, Komotau, Bohemia [*] 

Joaquín Trujillo, Mexico 

Juan María Ugarte, Tegucigalpa, Honduras [**] 

Pedro Ugarte, Tegucigalpa, Honduras 

Lucas Ventura, Spain [*] 

Juan Villavieja, Spain [*] 

Franz Xavier Wagner, Eichstätt, Germany [**] 

Bernhard Zumziel, Westkirchen, Germany 

 

Notes 

INTRODUCTION 

1 It is well to remember that throughout this text "California" refers only to the peninsula 

of California, the Mexican territory of Baja (Lower) California; and all references to 

"Californians" or "California Indians" apply to the native inhabitants of the 

peninsula. [BACK] 

2 The interior of the peninsula had been explored to about thirty degrees north latitude at 

the time Father Baegert left Lower California. [BACK] 

3 The work referred to is that of Father Miguel Venegas, S.J., edited by A. M. Burriel, 

S.J., Noticia de la California (3 vols.; Madrid, 1757). [BACK] 

4 Also spelled quipos, quipee, quipu, quippu; from the Quechua, "knot." An ancient 

Peruvian mnemonic device used for counting and for recording facts and events. It 

javascript://
javascript://
javascript://
javascript://
javascript://
javascript://
javascript://
https://publishing.cdlib.org/ucpressebooks/view?docId=ft5r29n9xv&chunk.id=d0e276&toc.id=&toc.depth=1&brand=ucpress;query=bible&anchor.id=bkd0e281#X
https://publishing.cdlib.org/ucpressebooks/view?docId=ft5r29n9xv&chunk.id=d0e276&toc.id=&toc.depth=1&brand=ucpress;query=bible&anchor.id=bkd0e286#X
https://publishing.cdlib.org/ucpressebooks/view?docId=ft5r29n9xv&chunk.id=d0e276&toc.id=&toc.depth=1&brand=ucpress;query=bible&anchor.id=bkd0e295#X


consisted of a length of cord from which hung smaller cords of various colors tied in knots. 

The arrangement of colors and size of knots had special meanings. [BACK] 

5 An imaginary kingdom which Francisco Vásqucz Coronado undertook to discover on his 

expedition in 1541. He thought he had found it when he reached what is now eastern 

Kansas, but was disappointed when he failed to find the great wealth of gold and silver of 

which he had been told. [BACK] 

6 Father Jakob Sedelmayr, S.J., native of Bavaria, Germany; sent to Mexico in 1735, and 

worked as a missionary in Sonora until 1767. [BACK] 

PART ONE 

Chapter One— Of the Location, Longitude, Latitude, and Size of California, and of the 

Gulf 

7 Father Ferdinand Konschak (also Consag, Konsak), S.J., born in Varasdin, Croatia, in 

1703; sent to Lower California in 1730, and died in 1759. He explored the east coast of the 

peninsula to the mouth of the Colorado River and led two land expeditions, in 1751 and 

1753. [BACK] 

8 Father Wenceslaus Linck (Link), S.J., born in Joachimsthal, Bohemia, in 1736; sent to 

Lower California in 1762. In his own account of the exploration Father Linck stated that he 

started from San Borja on February 20, 1766, accompanied by thirteen soldiers in 

command of Lieutenant Don Blas Fernandez of the presidio of San Borja. [BACK] 

9 The present Cape Blanco, Oregon, lies north of Cape Mendocino, California. Either 

Baegert was mistaken, or he referred to another landmark of the same name south of 

Cape Mendocino. Baegert refers here to the expedition of Sebastián Vizcaíno, sent out by 

the Viceroy of New Spain in 1602 to find a harbor for the Manila galleons. Vizcaíno 

rediscovered and named Monterey Bay, in Alta California, December 16, 1602. [BACK] 

10 The astronomer was Abbé Jean Chappe d'Auteroche, born in Mauriac, Chantal, France, 

March 2, 1722; died in San José del Cabo, August 1, 1769. He went to Lower California to 

observe the transit of Venus (June 3, 1769), and an eclipse of the moon (June 18, 1769). 

See his Voyage en Californie, pour l'observation du passage de Venus sur le disque du soleil 

le 3. juin 1769  . . . (redigé et publié par M. Cassini, fils, Paris, 1772). break [BACK] 

Chapter Two— Of the Heat, the Cold, and the Four Seasons of the Year in California 
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11 Johann Huebner, 1668-1731, professor of history and geography. In 1693 he 

published Kurze Fragen aus tier alten und neuen Geographie which had thirty-six 

editions. [BACK] 

Chapter Four— Of the Character, Fertility, and Barrenness of the Soil of California 

12 Father Baegert's observation on the fertility of the soil under the conditions he 

mentions is correct. However, at present, with the help of modern methods of irrigation, 

grain, corn, alfalfa, fruit, and other crops under cultivation show a high yield. [BACK] 

13 Baegert quotes from Captain Woodes Rogers' A Cruising Voyage Round the 

World (London, 1712). Woodes Rogers was an English buccaneer, one of the leaders of the 

Edward Cooke expedition (1708-1711), to the South Sea and around the world. While 

awaiting the appearance of the Manila galleon en route to Acapulco from the Philippines, 

Woodes Rogers made his observations of Lower California. The galleon was captured by 

the English off Cabo San Lucas. [BACK] 

Chapter Five— Of the Trees, Shrubs, and Thorn Bushes of California 

14 This church, after two hundred years, is still well preserved, although little has been 

done to repair or preserve it. At present it serves the small farming community of San Luis 

Gonzaga. The mission lands are now part of a privately owned ranch producing grapes, 

figs, and dates. [BACK] 

Chapter Eight— Of the Vermin of California 

15 Father Franz Ináma von Sternegg, S.J., born in Vienna, Austria, in 1719; sent to Lower 

California in 1750, and served at Mission San José Comondú until 1768. [BACK] 

16 Father Ignatz Tirs (also Tiers, Tirsch, Türsch), S.J., born in Komotau, Bohemia, in 1733; 

arrived in Lower California in 1762, and served at Mission Santiago until 1768. [BACK] 

Chapter Nine— Of the Pearl Fisheries and the Mines of California 

17 In 1728 the Bishop of Nueva Galicia, Dr. Carlos Gomez de Cervantes, declared that the 

two Californias (Alta and Baja) belonged to the diocese of Guadalajara, and not to 

Durango. [BACK] 

PART TWO 

Chapter One— Of the Physical Appearance of the Californians, Their Color and Number, 

When and How They Might Have Come to California 
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18 In his original text Baegert used the map of Father Ferdinand Konschak, S.J., which 

places the southern point of Lower California at twenty-two degrees north latitude, and 

the northernmost of the Jesuit missions, Santa María, at thirty-one degrees, north. Recent 

maps show the southern tip of the peninsula near twenty-three degrees north latitude, 

Santa María near thirty degrees, north. 

Concerning the population, Father Baegert wrote, in a letter to his brother (written at 

Mission San Luis Gonzaga, September 11, 1752), that "from Cabo San Lucas, here in 

California, to the last mission, almost under the twenty-ninth degree north, in a stretch of 

more than three hundred hours, we count less than six thousand souls. Although diseases 

and rebellions have killed many hundreds some years ago—according to a safe 

calculation—no more than thirteen thousand souls lived in this extended territory at the 

beginning of these missions and of this century. And that, considering the size of the area, 

is less than nothing. . . . I count in my mission three hundred and sixty souls, old and 

young, of both sexes, and there are several [missions] which have even less." 

On the same subject, Father Lambert Hostel, S.J., a contemporary missionary in Lower 

California, wrote in January, 1758: "at the present time we count not many more than six 

thousand souls in our twelve missions. To be sure, some spreading diseases, which carried 

off several thousand of our Christians, continue 

had something to do with that. This is especially true of the missions toward the South, 

where two out of four had to be abandoned" [San José del Cabo and La Paz]. [BACK] 

Chapter Two— Of the Habitations and Shelters of the Californians 

19 Marc Antoine Eidous translated Venegas' work into French (Paris, Durand, 

1767). [BACK] 

20 Señor Fernandez, a secular priest. [BACK] 

Chapter Five— Of Food and Drink, of Cooking and the Voracity of the Californians 

21 Father Francisco María Píccolo, S.J., born in Sicily in 1650; arrived in Mexico in 1688, 

and served as a missionary to the Tarahumara. In 1697 he went to Lower California in 

place of Father Eusebius Kino, and arrived there only a few weeks after Father Juan María 

Salvatierra. At the request of the Real Audiencia of Guadalajara he wrote the Informe del 

Estado de la Nueva Christiandad de California , in 1702. He died at Mission Loreto on 

February 22, 1729. [BACK] 

Chapter Six— Of Marriage and the Education of Children in California 
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22 Noel Antoine Pluche, 1688-1761, French priest and educator. [BACK] 

Chapter Seven— Of Diseases and Medicines, of Death and the Burial Customs of the 

Californians 

23 The founding of the missions established a more or less regular contact with the 

mainland and brought newcomers to the peninsula. One unfortunate result of contact 

with the mainland was the introduction of epidemic diseases into Lower California. In 

1698, only a year after the first mission had been started, Father Salvatierra reported a 

"distemper which carried off many people." In the succeeding years epidemics decimated 

the Indian population in some of the mission settlements to such an extent that several of 

the missions, built with great effort, had to be abandoned. 

A good example of the devastating effect of an epidemic disease on one community 

appears in the Abbé d'Auteroche's account of his arrival at San josé. The abbé was 

accompanied on his expedition by an assistant named Pauly, a watchmaker—brought 

along to take care of the instruments—called Noel, and two Spanish astronomers named 

Doz and Medina. The party landed at San José, May 19, 1769, to find an epidemic raging. 

All the members of the party immediately fell ill. Judging from the scanty description of 

the symptoms and the lingering nature of the illness, it could have been typhoid fever. 

D'Auteroche wrote that the epidemic had already taken a third of the inhabitants when 

his party landed at San José. By June 5, the town was a scene of horror, everyone sick, 

including himself, and no one left to help him. By June 18, three-fourths of the population 

had died, including the priest, Father Juan Morel, and the rest had fled. D'Auteroche died 

on August 1, at San José, Noel also died there, and Medina at San Blas. [BACK] 

24 In his Storia delia California , Father Francisco Xavier Clavigero, S.J., wrote of an 

epidemic of smallpox in 1709, the first to have been observed in Lower California, which 

carried off many adults and nearly all the children. [BACK] 

Chapter Eight— Of the Character, Nature, and Customs of the Californians 

25 Father Pierre François Xavier de Charlevoix, S.J., born in Saint-Quentin, France, in 1682; 

labored in Quebec, Canada, from 1705 to 1709; and voyaged down the Mississippi River to 

New Orleans in 1720-1722 on a voyage of exploration to find the "Western Sea," 

supposed to lie west of the Mississippi. He returned to France to teach and write history. 

His most important work Histoire et description générale de la Nouvelle France , was 

published in Paris in 1744. His other writings included histories of Japan, San Domingo, 

and Paraguay. Father Charlevoix died February 1, 1761. [BACK] 

PART THREE 
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Chapter One— Futile Expeditions of the Spaniards to California. Father Salvatierra Gains 

a Firm Footing and Establishes Mission Loreto 

26 Francisco Luzenilla. In 1668 he obtained a license from the government, continue 

permitting him to take an expedition to Lower California. He attempted to establish a 

settlement in the region of La Paz, but the project had to be abandoned when provisions 

ran out. After the failure of the Otondo expeditions in 1683, Luzenilla tried to get another 

license, but was turned down. [BACK] 

27 Father Eusebius Franciscus Kino, S.J., born in the Tyrol, near Trent, in 1644; studied in 

Austria and Germany, and became professor of mathematics in Ingolstadt. He was sent to 

Mexico in 1681, and took part in the Otondo expeditions to Lower California in 1683. From 

1687 until his death in 1711 he worked in Pimería Alta (Sonora and southern Arizona). For 

a complete study of the work of this remarkable and gifted man, see Herbert E. Bolton's 

edition of Father Kino's contemporary account of the beginnings of California, Sonora, and 

Arizona: Kino's Historical Memoir of Pimería Alta (Berkeley, 1919). [BACK] 

Chapter Two— Of the Progress of the Established Missions and of the Founding of New 

Ones 

28 Miquelete, a soldier of the guard of the provincial governor in Spain. Earlier the term 

was also used to signify a Spanish bandit. [BACK] 

Chapter Three— Of the Revenues and the Administration of the Missions 

29 Father Juan María de Ugarte, S.J., born in 1660 (or 1662) in Tegucigalpa, Honduras, of 

Basque parents; entered the Society of Jesus in 1679. Later he taught philosophy in 

Mexico City and became acquainted with Fathers King and Salvatierra. He was active in 

raising funds for the foundation of the missions in Lower California. In 1700 he was sent to 

Loreto and remained on the peninsula until his death at Mission San Xavier on September 

29, 1730. Father Salvatierra referred to him as the "Apostle, Father and Atlante of 

California." Ugarte deserves much of the credit for the survival of mission work in Lower 

California. A great organizer, architect, builder, explorer, agriculturist, highly intelligent, 

gifted with artistic and scientific ability and mechanical resourcefulness, he also possessed 

great physical strength and endurance. See Father Juan José de Villavicencio, Vida . . . de 

P. Ugarte (Mexico, 1752). [BACK] 

30 Father Jacobo Druet, S.J., born in Turin, Italy, in 1698; sent to Lower California in 1732, 

and served at Mission La Purísima Concepción until his death in 1753. [BACK] 

Chapter Four— Of the Churches in California, Their Furnishings and Ornaments 
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31 Father Johann Xavier Bischoff, S.J., born in Glatz, Bohemia, in 1710; sent to Lower 

California in 1752, and worked as a missionary until 1768. [BACK] 

32 Father Pietro Nascimbén, S.J., a native of Venice, Italy, born in 1703; sent to Lower 

California in 1745, died in August, 1754. [BACK] 

Chapter Seven— Of the Soldiers, Sailors, Craftsmen, as well as of Buying and Selling in 

California 

33 Don Juan Antonio Vizarrón, Archbishop of Mexico City, and Viceroy of New Spain, 

1734-1740. [BACK] 

34 Father Lambert Hostel, S.J., born in Münstereifel, Germany, in 1706; sent to Lower 

California in 1737, and served at Missions San Luis Gonzaga and Dolores until 1768. [BACK] 

35 See Part One, chapter eight, note 15. [BACK] 

Chapter Eight— Of the Death of the Two Jesuit Fathers, Támaral and Carranco 

36 Father Sigismundo Táraval, S.J., born in Lodi, Italy, of Spanish parents, in 1700; studied 

in Spain and Mexico, and sent to Lower California in 1730. Three years later he established 

Mission Santa Rosa (later called Todos Santos). In 1750 or 1751 he left Lower California 

and went to Guadalajara, Mexico, where he died in 1763. He left a great number of 

manuscripts, some of which contained detailed records of events in California. It is said 

that Venegas' Noticia de la California is based in part on Father Táraval's writings. 

break [BACK] 

37 Father Lorenzo José Carranco, S.J., a native of Cholula, Mexico. He studied in Puebla 

and made his novitiate in Tepotzotlán; sent to Lower California in 1727 to succeed Father 

Nápoli at Mission Santiago. Father Baegert gives Saturday, October 2, 1734, as the day of 

his death; Father Sigismundo Táraval, that it occurred on Friday, October 1. [BACK] 

38 Father Nicolás Támaral, S.J., born in Seville, Spain, in 1687; sent to Lower California in 

March, 1717, and founded Mission La Purísima Concepción in 1722, and later Mission San 

José del Cabo, in 1730. He was murdered by rebellious Indians on October 3, 1734. [BACK] 

39 In his work La Obra de los Jesuitas Mexicanos durante la Epoca Colonial 1574-

1767 (Mexico, 1941), Father Gerard Decorme, S.J., names fifty Jesuit missionaries who 

died for the Faith, in New Spain (vol. 1, pp. 408-409). He included Father Juan Bautista 

Segura, S.J. (born in Toledo, Spain) who, with another father and seven lay brothers died 

in the country of Axacán (killed by Indians), which was in North American territory, 

between the Potomac and Rappahannock rivers. The list does not mention Father 
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Eusebius Franciscus Kino, who, at least according to one report, was killed by rebellious 

Indians on March 15, 1711, in Santa Magdalena. Nor does it include Father Johannes 

Ratkey, S.J. (born in Pettau, Styria, 1647) who is said to have been poisoned by Indians on 

November 9, 1684, at his Tarahumara mission. To those missionaries, listed by Father 

Decorme, could be added the names of many other Jesuits who died under similar 

circumstances in Japan, China, the Marianas, South America, Cochin China, Madura, and 

other places. See Der Neue Welt-Bott . [BACK] 

40 Father P. Tomás Tello, S.J., born in Almagro de la Mancha, Spain; killed in an Indian 

uprising at Mission Caborca, Sonora, in November, 1751. [BACK] 

41 Father Heinrich Ruhen, S.J. (sometimes spelled Rhuen), born in Osnabrüany; slain by 

Indians at Mission Sonoíta, Sonora, in November, 1751. [BACK] 

Chapter Nine— Some Questions Directed to Protestants and Particularly to Protestant 

Ministers 

42 Tranquebar, a town in the Tanjore district of Madras, India. Tranquebar was once 

owned by a Danish trading company which had acquired it in 1620. It became an 

important trading port. At the suggestion of King Frederik IV of Denmark, a mission was 

established there in 1706. It was sold to Great Britain in 1845. [BACK] 

43 Godfreidus Dellius, a clergyman, born in Holland. He arrived in North America in 1683 

and became assistant to Gideon Schaats, pastor of the Reformed Church at Albany, New 

York. He also preached at Schenectady. Later he is believed to have worked among the 

Indians as a missionary of the Episcopal church. He died in Antwerp about 1705. [BACK] 

44 Johann Jakob Weislinger, S.J. (1691-1755), an especially gifted German polemical 

writer; author of several works against Protestant antagonists. [BACK] 

45 Barthol. Ziegenbalg, a Protestant missionary, born in Ober-Lausitz, Germany, in 1683; 

went to the Danish colony of Tranquebar, India, in 1705, to establish a mission. He 

translated the Bible into the Tamil language, and also wrote: Genealogie der 

malabarischen Goetter . [BACK] 

46 Samuel Urlsperger (1685-1772). German pastor and pietist of note. He was known for 

his interest in mission work and for his zeal in helping victims of intolerance. He was 

instrumental in getting Protestants to America continue 

who were expelled from the Salzburg diocese by the archbishop. These Protestant 

emigrants founded Ebenezer, in Georgia. [BACK] 

https://publishing.cdlib.org/ucpressebooks/view?docId=ft5r29n9xv&chunk.id=d0e3956&toc.id=d0e3498&toc.depth=1&brand=ucpress;query=bible&anchor.id=bkd0e4018#X
https://publishing.cdlib.org/ucpressebooks/view?docId=ft5r29n9xv&chunk.id=d0e3956&toc.id=d0e3498&toc.depth=1&brand=ucpress;query=bible&anchor.id=bkd0e4021#X
https://publishing.cdlib.org/ucpressebooks/view?docId=ft5r29n9xv&chunk.id=d0e3956&toc.id=d0e3498&toc.depth=1&brand=ucpress;query=bible&anchor.id=bkd0e4024#X
https://publishing.cdlib.org/ucpressebooks/view?docId=ft5r29n9xv&chunk.id=d0e4030&toc.id=d0e3498&toc.depth=1&brand=ucpress;query=bible&anchor.id=bkd0e4137#X
https://publishing.cdlib.org/ucpressebooks/view?docId=ft5r29n9xv&chunk.id=d0e4030&toc.id=d0e3498&toc.depth=1&brand=ucpress;query=bible&anchor.id=bkd0e4143#X
https://publishing.cdlib.org/ucpressebooks/view?docId=ft5r29n9xv&chunk.id=d0e4030&toc.id=d0e3498&toc.depth=1&brand=ucpress;query=bible&anchor.id=bkd0e4146#X
https://publishing.cdlib.org/ucpressebooks/view?docId=ft5r29n9xv&chunk.id=d0e4030&toc.id=d0e3498&toc.depth=1&brand=ucpress;query=bible&anchor.id=bkd0e4149#X
https://publishing.cdlib.org/ucpressebooks/view?docId=ft5r29n9xv&chunk.id=d0e4030&toc.id=d0e3498&toc.depth=1&brand=ucpress;query=bible&anchor.id=bkd0e4184#X


Chapter Ten— Of the Arrival of Don Gaspar Portolá and the Departure of the Jesuits 

from California 

47 On February 27, 1767, King Charles III of Spain signed an order to expel the members of 

the Society of Jesus from every domain of the Spanish Crown. To allow sufficient time for 

the royal decree to reach all representatives of the Spanish government, it was kept secret 

until June 25, 1767. On that day the order was put into effect, simultaneously and 

immediately, in every part of the Spanish Empire. The same fate had struck at the Jesuits 

in Portugal, which had decreed their expulsion in September, 1759, and in France, in 

November, 1764. [BACK] 

48 Don Gaspar de Portolá born in Balaguer, Spain, in 1723; joined the army in his early 

youth and became a lieutenant when he was thirty. After twenty years of active service 

with the Spanish army he went to Mexico and was sent to the frontier presidios of Sinaloa 

and Sonora. In 1767 he was appointed to direct the expulsion of the Jesuits in California, 

and to become the first Spanish governor of the territory. In 1769 the Visitor General of 

New Spain, Don José de Gálvez, ordered Portolá to proceed north, into Alta, California to 

establish two presidios, one at San Diego, the other on Monterey Bay. Portolá's diary of 

that expedition, and other contemporary accounts of it are to be found in the Publications 

of the Academy of Pacific Coast History (Vol. I, 1910, and Vol. II, 1911). In 1779 Portolá 

became governor of the State of Puebla, Mexico. Five years later he returned to 

Spain. [BACK] 

49 San Juan de Matanchel, a port on the west coast of Mexico, about a mile south of the 

present San Blas. [BACK] 

50 Captain Fernando Rivera v Moncada came to Loreto sometime before 1750. In that 

year he succeeded Don Bernardo Rodríguez de Larrea as captaingovernor of the presidio 

of Loreto. When Portolá organized the expedition into Upper California, Captain Rivera 

was sent ahead with a group of men and charged with collecting supplies for the 

expedition. For a time he was commander of the presidio of Monterey, but later returned 

to Loreto. In 1781, the rebellious Yuma Indians destroyed two Franciscan missions on the 

Colorado River, killing the priests and soldiers, as well as colonists who had stopped to rest 

there on the way from Sonora to California. Captain Rivera, who had led these colonists, 

lost his life in the same massacre. [BACK] 

51 Father Franz Benno Ducrue, S.J., born in Munich, Germany, on June 10, 1721; entered 

the Society of Jesus on September 28, 1738, and sent to Lower California in 1748. After 

the expulsion he returned to his native city, and died there on March 30, 1779. [BACK] 
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52 Father Juan José Díaz, S.J. (also spelled Díez), born in Mexico, in 1735; sent to Lower 

California in 1766, one of the last Jesuit missionaries to be sent there. At the time of the 

expulsion he was serving the newly established Mission Santa María. He died in 

1809. [BACK] 

APPENDIX ONE— FALSE REPORTS ABOUT CALIFORNIA AND THE CALIFORNIANS 

53 Philipp Cluverius (Klüwer, Clüver), born in Danzig, Germany, in 1580; died at Leyden, 

Holland, in 1623. The Allgemeine Deutsche Biographie (vol. 4, p. 353 f.) calls him the 

founder of the science of historical geography. Author of Germania Antiqua , 1616, 

and Italia Antiqua , 1624. [BACK] 

54 Admiral Don Isidoro de Otondo y Antillón, who, as the "Superior in command of the 

Royal Armada" took formal possession, in the name of the King continue 

of Spain, of the "Californian Islands" in 1683. His expedition was financed and licensed by 

the government, and he tried to establish a permanent settlement. But, like the earlier 

attempts, this one, too, failed for lack of supplies. [BACK] 

55 The original Spanish title of the Venegas work: Noticia de California implies that the 

book contains "reports from, or information about [Baja] California." The title of the 

English, French, and German translations A Natural and Civil History of California , is more 

ambitious. [BACK] 

56 Father Thyrso González was General of the Society of Jesus from 1687 to 1705. [BACK] 

APPENDIX TWO— FALSE REPORTS ABOUT THE MISSIONARIES IN CALIFORNIA 

57 One of the most unrelenting and most influential enemies of the Jesuits in Mexico was 

Francisco Fabián y Fuero, Bishop of Puebla. Others were the Bishop of Mexico City, 

Francisco Antonio Lorenzana, and Bishop Abreu of Oaxaca. [BACK] 

58 Father Clemente Guillén, S.J., born in Zacatecas, Mexico, in 1677; sent to Lower 

California in January, 1714, and served at Mission Dolores del Sur until that mission had to 

be abandoned, because most of the Indians had perished in an epidemic of dysentery. In 

1721 he started to work among the Guaicura Indians, and persuaded them to collect in 

small communal groups (rancherías). Three of the rancherías were later part of Mission 

San Luis Gonzaga. At the same time he began to build Mission Siete Dolores, which he 

administered for twenty years. He was visitador of the California missions during the 

troublesome years which followed the Indian revolt in the southern part of the peninsula 

in 1734. Guillén died in 1748. [BACK] 
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59 Prince Eugène de Savoie-Carignan, born in Paris, France, on October 18, 1663, died in 

Vienna, Austria, on April 21, 1736. His family had decided that he should become a priest 

(his mother was a niece of Cardinal Mazarin), but he preferred a military career. King Louis 

XIV refused his request for a commission in the French army, partly because of a 

pronounced limp but mostly because of political considerations. Disappointed, the prince 

left France, in 1683, and turned to Austria to offer his services to Emperor Leopold I, who 

made the young man (he was nineteen) a colonel in the Austrian army. He proved to be 

one of Austria's ablest military leaders and statesmen. In 1683, when Vienna was besieged 

by Turkish troops, he fought with distinction for the liberation of the city. In succeeding 

campaigns against the French and Turkish armies he achieved brilliant victories for his 

adopted country. His rise in military rank and public acclaim was continuous and rapid, 

and he became the national hero of Austria. The decisive defeat of the superior Turkish 

armies at Temesvár and Peterwardein in 1716, and the capture of the city and fortress of 

Belgrade, in 1717, led to a treaty of peace with Turkey and Venice, in 1718. Through these 

victories Prince Eugene discouraged the declared "Holy War" of Turkey against the 

"Unclean Christians." [BACK] 

60 The author refers to Nouvelles Ecclésiastiques a weekly publication of the Jansenists, 

printed and circulated secretly in France from 1728 to 1793, then in Utrecht until 

1803. [BACK] 

61 The followers of Cornelis Jansen, Dutch theologian, later Bishop of Ypres, Belgium. He 

was born in 1585; died in 1683. Influenced by Michel de Bay, a professor at the University 

of Louvain, Jansen first became known as an advocate of rigid Augustinianism. His famous 

work ( Augustinus ), which ex- soft 

plained his interpretation of the teachings of St. Augustine, was first published under the 

auspices of the University of Louvain (1640). A second edition was approved by the 

Sorbonne in 1641. Although condemned by the pope, because it defended the 

propositions of Michel de Bay, it was widely circulated in France and became the basis for 

a reform movement within the Catholic Church. The work was denounced by the Jesuits, 

who were its most severe and eloquent critics. In 1643 it was condemned by Pope Urban 

VIII, and again by his successors, Innocent X, Alexander VII, and Clement XI. In France the 

controversy was carried on openly until 1728, when Cardinal de Noailles, Archbishop of 

Paris, and one of the defenders of Jansenism, submitted to the papal decree. In the 

meantime, a group of Catholics that had followed the principles of Jansen had been 

established in Utrecht, Holland, in 1702. In 1728 this group gave refuge to nuns and 

priests who refused to follow the example of Noailles. [BACK] 
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62 Father Louis Bourdaloue, S.J. (1632-1704), one of the most powerful preachers of his 

age. He exercised his gifts in Paris and at the court, and is said to have been one of the 

greatest orators of the Church. [BACK] 

63 The tale of King Nicholas is one of the many fables invented by the enemies of the 

Society. Father Martin Dobrizhofer, a Jesuit missionary in Paraguay, gives an interesting 

account of this tale in his Geschichte der Abiponer in Paraguay (translated from the Latin 

original into German by A. Kreil, Vienna, 1783). 

"In 1753 a royal order caused the rebellion of the Guaraní Indians on the Uruguay River. 

According to this order, seven of the best villages in Paraguay were supposed to be turned 

over to the Portuguese. The Indians resisted this order with all their might, not out of 

hatred for the King of Spain, who wanted to send them into exile, but out of love for their 

native country. Would not a Spaniard, a German, or a Frenchman do the same, if their 

ruler were to force them to give their homeland to the enemy? . . . Father Bernardus 

Nussdorfer, an old missionary and Father Superior, tried to pacify the Guaranís, and it 

seemed that he had succeeded . . . But when the rumor spread that Gomez Freyre de 

Andfade, governor of Rio de Janeiro, and originator of the whole sad story, had invaded 

the country, the rebellion broke out . . . " 

"At the very beginning of the rebellion the Guaraní elected a certain Joseph, captain or 

corregidor of San Miguel, as their leader. He had fleetness of body . . . and courage of 

spirit, and was a good soldier, but a poor general. After he was killed in combat, the 

Indians chose the corregidor of Concepción, Nicolás Neenquirù, to be their leader. Nicolás 

understood more about music than about war . . . which caused the Uruguayans to lose 

heart. The whole affair took a turn for the worse, and the seven villages were delivered to 

the royal troups. And that was the same Nicolás who was represented to the Europeans as 

King of Paraguay. At the time when everyone in Europe talked and wrote about the King 

of Paraguay (how we laughed when we, in Paraguay, saw the European newspapers!) I 

saw Nicolás Neenquirù in the village of Concepción. He was barefoot, like the other 

Indians, sometimes riding herd or driving a herd of steers to the slaughterhouse, or 

splitting wood. I watched him, and laughed. He came to me to kiss my hand, as the Indians 

do, and continue 

asked me to let him have sheet music and symphonies, so he could copy them, for his 

violin, which he played very well." 

"The story of King Nicholas had its origin in the mind of the man who had for a long time 

desired to chase us [the Jesuits], the most ardent defenders of Spanish sovereignty, out of 

Paraguay." [BACK] 
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64 Father Norbert was a Capuchin who published Mémoires historiques sur les affaires des 

Jesuites in which he attacked the Jesuits and accused them, particularly, of illegal 

commercial transactions. It was the Marquês de Pombal, prime minister of Portugal and 

deadly enemy of the Jesuits, who had this work widely distributed. [BACK] 

65 Malagrida (1689-1761), a Jesuit missionary in Brazil from 1721 to 1749. He returned to 

Portugal and apparently exerted great influence at the Court of Lisbon. Pombal, the prime 

minister and great enemy of Malagrida and the Jesuits, succeeded in having him banished 

and all the Jesuits removed from the court. Pombal, however, did not rest until Malagrida 

was condemned to death by a "packed" court of the Inquisition. "He was strangled at an 

auto-da-fé and his body burned." [BACK] 

66 In October, 1768, the Gazeta de Madrid , official organ of Spanish governmental circles, 

states: "It is now well known that everything that had been reported about King Nicolaus 

was a fable and pure invention." [BACK] 

67 Baegert refers here to Abbé Chappe d'Auteroches. See Part One, chapter one, note 4, 

and Part Two, chapter seven, note 4. break [BACK] 
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Who would imagine, after reading my reports, that slander would also try its teeth on the 

Jesuits of California and persecute them with its libels? And yet, it so happened. 

In the first place, in October, 1766, the Provincial of the Order presented the California 

Jesuits with eight complaints and a request for an answer. Some "good friends"[57] had 

sent the complaints to Madrid and from the court they were forwarded to the Viceroy of 

Mexico. The eight points of accusation were: 

1. That the captain of the California-Spanish militia and the soldiers in his command were 

nothing but slaves of the Jesuits. 

2. That the missionaries sold food and other necessities to the soldiers at prices higher 

than the official tariff prescribes. 
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3. That the Jesuits force the natives to work hard and give them nothing but boiled Indian 

corn as reward. 

4. That they have secret silver mines in their houses. 

5. That they are responsible for the meager output and poor condition of the silver mines 

of Santa Ana and San Antonio (actually, the missionaries did not want to deprive the 

Indians of the little corn some of of them had by selling it to the miners). 

6. That the Jesuits will in no way permit Spanish families to settle in California and 

establish a colony. 

7. That they trade with the English. 

8. And finally, that they purposely never tell the natives anything about the Catholic King, 

so that the natives would never know of an overlord outside of California and therefore 

regard the Jesuits as their kings and honor them as the potentates of California. 

Fine kings! In truth, "kings" who, as someone said, drank with their horses, ate corn with 

the chickens, and slept at night with the dogs on the bare soil! Great honor indeed! Honor 

such as one could seek among the Indians of California or expect from them! 

In addition to these points submitted to us in writing, it was also said 
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that the irrigation ditches (through which here and there water is run to a certain piece of 

land) were of silver, that the house of the missionary of San José del Cabo received six 

hundred and twenty-five pounds of silver annually, and that we refuse work to any 

strangers who come to California, so that the news of our wealth would never spread! 

These last statements are such palpable lies that they do not deserve refutation. 

As to the eight points of accusation, we held that it would be good to leave the answers to 

the captain himself. He had a complete and full knowledge of California, for he had lived 

there more than twenty-four years, and fifteen of these as captain. In this capacity he 

governed land and soldiers, jealously guarding his authority. 

Thereupon the captain had his lieutenant and seven soldiers who were stationed at Loreto 

take an oath, and asked them about each accusation raised against the Jesuits. He then 

sent their sworn and signed depositions to the Viceroy of Mexico. From Mexico we later 

learned that these eight accusations were considered to be just so many falsehoods and 



calumnies without basis or semblance of truth. I wish to God that at all times and places 

people would have proceeded in such a natural manner! 

But still, what should the Spanish immigrants do, for instance, in California? They would 

have to be resigned either to dying of hunger or to running about naked like the natives 

when the rags they brought with them rotted on their bodies. Then they would have to 

hunt for field mice and bats, and thus steal the natives' bread from their mouths, as the 

saying goes. The only Englishman to arrive in California during the Spanish War of 

Succession was Woodes Rogers. He landed at Cabo San Lucas before anyone had thought 

of establishing missions in this land. His report, which I will use, did not, in all probability, 

much inspire his fellow citizens with the prospect of trading with California. 

Only the natives gained when they worked. What is more, they ate, in addition to boiled 

corn, many hundreds of oxen, cows, sheep and goats, several hundreds of pounds of dried 

figs and grapes, thousands and thousands of pumpkins and melons, and the like. In 

addition to this, more than twelve thousand guilders had to be spent annually to clothe 

them. 

There was much lamenting among the soldiers when in 1766 it was rumored that in the 

future they would no longer receive their pay through the Jesuits, as to that date, but 

through others. The soldiers knew well 
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that these "others" would try to enrich themselves by administering the pay, just as they 

did elsewhere. 

As for the Catholic King, what could the missionaries say to the natives about him? Should 

they preach about the number of his subjects and soldiers, his revenues, his court, 

palaces, summer residences, and the like? How could a priest speak of these things to a 

people hardly able to count to six, without knowledge of silver and gold—a people more 

appreciative of a knife and a pound of meat than a hundred pounds of gold; a people that 

believed the Jesuits, like the cowherders and soldiers, had come to California for their 

support, and that, aside from them, there was no one on earth except such cowhands and 

soldiers? To them there was nothing more elegant in the world than a pair of trousers 

made of rough blue cloth or of plush. A native once, in all seriousness, asked his 

missionary, who is still living, whether his father had been a cowhand or a California 

soldier. Father Clemente Guillén,[58] who died in 1740, told some natives who understood 

Spanish that he read in the newspaper (it was during the Turkish War of 1716–1717) that 
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His Holiness the Pope had sent a blessed sword and hat to Prince Eugene.[59] Greatly 

surprised, one of the natives asked, "A sword and hat? Why did he not also have a pair of 

Palmilla trousers made for him?"[*] 

Since I was more strict than they wished me to be, my parishioners threatened several 

times to complain to my supervisors, thus to make me lose my mission. They held that 

nothing could frighten me more, because then I would not know where to turn and where 

to find my bread. 

In the second place the "History of California," which has been translated into French and 

English and which is often quoted, states on page 140, volume two: "Father N. resigned 

his mission to Father X." This sounds as if the missions of California were lucrative 

parishes, rich canonicates or fat priories from which a man occasionally resigns to help out 

a good friend. But in California, as in other places, each missionary remained at the 

mission assigned to him by his superiors until he died, unless he was transferred by his 

superiors because of ill health, old age, or for some other important reason to another 

mission or to a collegium. This leaves no place for a resignation. 
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On page 201, we read: "California wine is sent to New Spain in exchange for other goods." 

That is not true. Even if anyone wished to trade, it would be impossible, for that much 

wine is not made in California. Because of the shortage, the missionaries in California 

drank considerably more water than wine. At times some of them had to abstain from 

celebrating Holy Mass because they had no wine. 

Page 248: "The salt mines discussed here are found on the isle of Carmen near Loreto. 

Father Salvatierra asked for them several times, but never received them." These salt 

mines and all others in California—and there are quite a few—are tax free. Everyone takes 

as much salt as he wishes, without asking anyone or paying for it. Even so, there are few 

customers, for the natives eat everything without salt or fat. Furthermore, there is plenty 

of salt in New Spain or in the Mexican provinces across the gulf from California, and no 

merchants ever came to California for salt. Therefore I do not see how and why Father 

Salvatierra should have made any effort to get possession of the salt mines of Carmen. 

So much for the content of this "History of California." However, in the foreword the 

English or French translator, or whoever it may have been, allows himself to say other, 

and even worse, things about the Jesuits in California and other places. I am certain that 

the author of this preface did not understand what he wrote about them. He would have 
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to keep silent if he were asked to show proof from the content of the book on which he 

based his imprudent remarks. He also leaves the reader in doubt about his nationality; 

now he writes like a Spanish minister of state, now like an English merchant. When he 

attacks the Jesuits, he speaks the language of a Parisian lawyer of 1762. All these varieties 

of style are found in the same introduction. Let us hear now what is fine and new, the 

short and the long of what rolls out: 

On page XV, he says: "The Jesuits alone regulated all public and Church affairs in 

California."[*] The Jesuits alone! If the author had only given them at least the help of 

some assistants and consultants, a procureur or some gens du Roy! Moreover, to the 

affairs of State and Church he should have added those of the army and of criminal justice. 

This would have been no more effort than the first two mentioned, because all four 
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branches of government amount to nothing in California. Just the same, the Jesuits' coat 

of arms could have carried the shepherd's crook on one side and the sword on the other, 

as is done by so many princes of the realm! 

The good man, however, contradicts himself when he writes on page 213: "The captain of 

the militia is the highest judge and administrator of justice in all of California, exercising 

his authority over soldiers, sailors, slaves" (There are no slaves in the land. Whom would 

they serve there?), "and Spaniards as well as over the Indians. . . . It is he who adjusts 

claims and sees that his verdict is carried out. He also supervises the pearl fishing, 

etc."[*] What, then, is left for the sixteen Jesuits to do? Hardly anything occurs in matters 

of the Church except dispensations for marriage. But regardless of what happens, the 

Bishop of Guadalajara mediates and settles everything. The Jesuits had no more power or 

rights than a parish priest in Germany, except for some privileges shared equally by all 

missionaries who live too far away from the bishop's residence, regardless of the order 

they belong to. 

In the following elegant text, on page XVI, the author continues to pour out all his venom, 

smearing blindly: "This history puts before our eyes a perfect example of the policies and 

practices employed by the Jesuits, ostensibly to subject the Californians to the Crown of 

Spain, but in reality arrogating to themselves absolute power over such people. Here can 

also be seen the real motives which induce the Spanish government to use the men of this 

order in such enterprise and to wink at their deeds, so that with the help of various tricks 

and deceptions it can acquire what it could not master with force."[**] These are words, 
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and nothing but words. They could not even make me angry, although they persuaded me 

and 
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gave me cause to write these reports. Yes, they were the principal and almost the only 

cause. Such passages in the introduction, would lead the reader to expect to find 

throughout the book all kinds of crookedness and cunning trickery committed by the 

California Jesuits, even though such inventions had to be forged. What strange intentions 

the Court of Madrid must have harbored for the last two centuries when it ordered and 

permitted the Jesuits to preach the Gospel to the heathen in Asia and America, and at the 

same time allowed them to take possession of Peru and Mexico, Chile and Paraguay, the 

Philippines and California. Why should the Jesuits have been left to rule there and behave 

like lords, they alone to use those lands until 1767, without ever having been invested 

with one of those territories as a fief from the king? All this is implied in the Latin and 

French words acquérir and usurper . Yet, after the introductory mention of all these 

roguish deeds of the Jesuits and of all these plans of the Court of Madrid, nothing more is 

to be found in these three volumes which make up this history. This led me to believe that 

the translator or author and the man who hammered out the introduction could very well 

be two different messieurs , and that these passages were inserted in the foreword so the 

book would find more favor with certain people and find more buyers. Be that as it may, it 

is certain the reader will not find in the book what was promised in the foreword. Since, 

however, the Jesuits were incapable of "mastering by force" such an open and 

uninhabited land as California, their power could not be so formidable or their war chest 

as well filled as some shameless, brainless, and unscrupulous charlatans dare to assert. 

These writers believe least of all that which they try to make others believe. They send 

their messages into the world, having the audacity and insolence to imply that the whole 

globe is threatened by the chains and slavery imposed by the Jesuits. Yet on one point I 

have to admit this slanderer is right, and I confess frankly and without reserve that he 

wrote the pure and plain truth when he says that the California Indians were sujets 

titulaires , that is, Spanish subjects in appearance and name only. In this case this lying 

slanderer fared like the other one called Caiphas (John XII), who against his own will and 

knowledge also became a prophet. The California natives give absolutely nothing to the 

King of Spain because they have absolutely nothing to give; they render no gratuitous 

service nor serve as soldiers, etc., etc. There is nothing of value in California; and where 

there 
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is nothing, there cannot be any servitude or any fear of war or enemy. Therefore, as long 

as I lived in California, no order, no decrêt , no arrêt or anything like it has ever been 

issued to the natives, neither by the Court of Madrid, the Viceroy in Mexico, the Council in 

Guadalajara, nor even by the Spanish captain in California. Consequently, the natives 

never showed their dependence upon the Crown of Spain, nor did the Spanish Crown 

assert its rule and domination over the California Indians. Were the Jesuits to blame for 

that? 

Should, however, this prattler wish to know the real reason why, until a few years ago, the 

Kings of Spain used the Jesuits in such enterprises, he may consult various royal Spanish 

decrees, especially the one signed by Philip V on December 28, 1743, at Buenretiro. Here 

he will find that, in addition to the conversion of the heathen (which always was a matter 

of great concern to the Catholic Kings), the expansion of the kings' dominions and the 

increase of the royal revenues were also considered. It is also undeniably true that more 

Americans and Filipinos became and remained subjects of the Crown of Spain through the 

efforts of the Spanish missionaries (the majority of whom were always Jesuits) than 

through the Spanish soldiers. Even though California yields no income to the king, many 

other provinces do so, and more abundantly. 

Third and last, just recently a certain writer of repute started a campaign with a large 

collection of all kinds of beautiful reports against the Jesuits in general and those of 

California in particular (though against the latter, only en passant with two words). He 

sounded the war trumpet in Spain with a book of two hundred and fifty-nine pages in a 

quarto size. This book, if it were investigated by a court of justice, might be regarded as 

libel of the first rank and condemned as such in London or at The Hague. The author, in 

accordance with his character, gave the book a rather pious title, but it earned little honor 

in clerical and secular circles and little applause from his own nation. He should have been 

more discreet and should have published his brain-child under another name; he should 

not have put his brand on its forehead. In that case it would still be horrible slander and a 

gross neglect of the truth, but people would not have been so greatly angered. Not even 

the sinister Gazettier Ecclésiastique[60] or the Jansenist[61] journalists of Paris could be 

more fanciful and farther out of bounds than this Spanish fabulist. As far as I heard in 

Spain, it is no mystery that he should write in this 
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vein. As the reader can clearly see, he has very little love for the truth! For this book, he 

had hurriedly collected—without order or system—material condemned by ecclesiastic 

and secular authorities, material which had been burned in Spain and other countries and 

contained the most abominable, mendacious, and unbelievable spittle produced by old 

and new enemies of the Jesuits and the Church. Besides this, the work, written in Spanish 

and pretending to be pious (to judge from its title), is now and then larded and 

embellished with Latin and French verses from biting poets and poetasters.[*] 

This book was advertised in the newspapers and openly sold in book shops. I was still in 

Spain six months after it was published, and in that time the author, whose name was 

mentioned on the title page, made no protest—a sign that he recognizes the book as his 

own offspring and not as a substitution. Therefore, he should not be annoyed when I 

criticize his work a bit and openly refute with all possible fairness the numerous 

falsehoods he made public against his own better judgment and conscience. On the 

contrary, he ought to be grateful that I did not and do not intend to divulge his station and 

name in places where they are not yet known. I have no doubt that his compatriots and 

colleagues have already told him the truth more forcefully than I could, just as it has 

happened in similar circumstances to authors in other places. 

Wherever I open the book I find a style of writing so contrary to Spanish sobriety and 

spirited homily, such a revolting, vulgar, and at times irritating, way of joking, jeering, and 

ridiculing, such unchristian expressions, such manifest falsehoods and impossible tales, 

that it seems incredible that this work was written by a man who treasures frankness, 

good taste, and the edification of his fellow men. Some examples may serve as proof. 

1. On page 150: He ridicules the world-renowned and world-famous Father 

Bourdaloue.[62] He calls him a hypocrite and a moral turncoat and accuses him of talking 

warm and cold in the same breath. After quoting four verses in good French, written by a 

holy father of Port Royal against 
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another Jesuit, he states on page 135 distinctly and in good Spanish that "all the bishops 

of the world are nothing but slaves of the Jesuits and belong to its third order."[*] 

2. On page 145: " . . . that along with the tyrannies the Jesuits committed in Portugal when 

the order was still in its infancy and had just been started, they dispatched no less than 

two thousand of the most distinguished secular priests as well as members of religious 

orders to the other world, causing them to be thrown into the sea. This outrage was so 
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loathsome to the fish that they emigrated to another place and the fishermen caught 

nothing but the soulless bodies of those clerics until finally the archbishop (of which city 

the author does not reveal) came to the seashore with a procession and blessed the 

waters."[**] 

3. On page 20 and 82: "That the war (under King Nicholas)[63] cost the Jesuits of Paraguay 

thirteen million Roman scudi (or about thirty million Rhenish guilders), and that they had a 

standing army of one hundred and fifty thousand men."[***] 

4. On page 147, he not only charges the Jesuits with the sole responsibility for the revolt in 

Madrid as reported in the newspapers of Lisbon and with the events in Paris, etc., etc., but 

demands that this be considered as a fact which permits no doubt. Ciertamente , it 

says, no puede dudarse . 
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5. On page 154, he calls on the carpet the mischievous (for honor-loving ears, vexatious) 

comment made either by an illusionist or a malicious jester about the chapter of the 

Fourth Lateran Council, which bids all the Faithful to partake of communion during the 

Easter time. I would be ashamed a hundred times (and my conscience forbids me) to write 

it down here. 

6. On page 139 are the following words: "Father Norbert[64] (that well-known "friend" of 

the Jesuits) has finally found sanctuary in Portugal, where he also had the consolation of 

witnessing the execution of Malagrida,[65] etc., etc."[*] Oh, what a beautiful and 

superevangelical expression! Those who will may now judge how much of the author's 

work is Christian, how much is possible, and how much an outright lie! In 1758 a writer 

could still fool some people about Paraguay. But by 1768[66] that a literate and well-versed 

Spaniard still calls up the tale of King Nicholas and the Jesuit-supported army of one 

hundred and fifty thousand men is simply intolerable, and it is as incomprehensible as the 

tale of the enslaved bishops under the yoke of the Jesuits or the story of the two thousand 

noblest Portuguese clerics drowned in the sea. The author must have thought, as so many 

others, "calumniate, semper aliquid haeret": exaggerate courageously; at least some of 

the inexperienced common people will be impressed. 

I have listed here four or five examples of the honesty and truth-loving spirit of this 

Spanish braggart in order to show beyond the borders of Spain what monstrous lies are 

spread behind the Pyrenees about certain people in these times, and that I would not 

need to refute at length and in detail what he conjured up about California. The reader 
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already knows how much credibility reports from such a pen deserve. If the few quoted 

examples do not suffice, I can point out some better ones, even a wagonload full taken 

from the book itself. 
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For instance, on page 82, after babbling at length about the fabulous riches of the Jesuits 

in Paraguay, he speaks about California: "Every year more than two million Rhenish 

florins, the income derived from the so-called Paraguaian herb, went to Rome. How many 

such millions must have reached Rome annually from the excessively rich California?"[*] 

From California! From California! This must have been done in utmost secrecy, for in 

seventeen years I have never gotten wind of it. When will people become wise and feel 

ashamed of such stupid lies? Had the Jesuits established missions in Novaya Zemlya or in 

Spitzbergen, who knows how many millions would have flown from those places to Rome. 

Who knows how uneasy the author would feel and how he would break out in a cold 

sweat should anyone take him at his word and make him prove his assertions. I am sure in 

the future he would no longer enjoy speaking ill of others and slandering them. It is 

precisely this fact which encourages people to lie—nobody demands proof of an author 

whose name appears in Gothic letters, as it does on this Spanish book. 

However, what should I do with such an author, what reply shall I give him? Shall I tell him 

to go to California without expecting a profit and see with his own eyes the California 

misery or the golden mountains of California? He would thank me and decline to accept. 

Shall I call his attention to these reports? He will undoubtedly call them pure lies. I think 

we, I and my fifteen companions, who have been in California, should ask the Court of 

Madrid (where we have some merit as individuals or through rights of succession) that 

this author be transferred to America either as the lord of California or, if he is not 

married and longs for some ecclesiastical honors, as primate of America, or first bishop of 

California.[**] And he shall have everything which the California missionaries 
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derived from the country for themselves and their general in Rome between 1697 and 

1768, except their hard-earned daily bread. 

If we succeed, he will be paid and the slander will be avenged, and in the future he will 

surely no longer blabber about the California millions. I know that the poorest nobleman 
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and hidalgo in Spain is a more impressive figure than the Grand Mogul of California would 

ever be. No prelate in Catholic lands, not even any canon or parish priest in Spain, would 

eat more modestly than His Grace, the Most Reverend First Bishop of California. This were 

so even if Father Laurentius Ricci, then General of the Society of Jesus, or his successor, 

paid him a hundred per cent interest on all the "millions" Rome derived from California 

and from Paraguay between 1696 and 1768. But now let me be serious. If so many 

millions per year had come to Rome, sent from all parts of America and especially from 

California to the treasury of the Jesuit General, why then does the Spanish Court pay to 

each of the more than four thousand Jesuits exiled by Spain to the Papal State and to 

misery one hundred and fifty florins each year? Could they not, even though they 

deserved an income, live off those millions they are said to have sent each year to the 

Curia in advance and in anticipation of events to come? Would the Spanish Crown be 

willing to let its colonial lands be exploited by the Jesuits and then, without necessity and 

against all merit, spend six hundred thousand florins every year for their support? I think 

the Spanish government is too intelligent to do that. Besides, we are living in an age when 

the members of a religious order do not receive too much privileges. The good man did 

not consider all this, or he believed peasants and old women in Spain would not know 

anything about that; otherwise he probably would never have mentioned the millions 

which were never sent. 

Besides, if each year so many millions were sent from California to Rome, why then were 

the California missionaries and those from Paraguay never forced to account for these 

surprising sums of money? The truth is that neither I nor any of my California colleagues 

were ever questioned about money or anything else during the eight months of enforced 

stay in Spain before we were permitted to move on. Nothing more desirable could have 

happened to us, and nothing more troublesome than such inquiries could have happened 

to our adversaries. 

I stayed with the California millions and the Spanish writer longer than I intended. This 

would not have happened if I had not been in- 
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formed in Spain, and had I not other good reasons to believe, that this writer and his voice 

played a part in precipitating a world-wide event universally known. I leave it to everyone 

to draw his own conclusions. 

As for my readers, some of them may have scruples about believing me and will perhaps 

doubt my reports about the poverty of California, banishing all the dreams of the oft-



quoted scribbler. In this case, I can offer no better advice, for I know they will not go to 

California and see for themselves, than that they learn the truth from the French 

astronomer who went to California toward the end of 1768, and who in all probability is 

now back in Paris.[67] I am sure that he too would not want to sell fairy tales or lies to the 

world. Or the reader may send to Madrid for a copy of the report which Don Portolá 

undoubtedly must have rendered regarding the affairs and revenues of his administration 

in California. 

PART THREE— 

OF THE ARRIVAL OF THE SPANIARDS, INTRODUCTION OF THE CHRISTIAN FAITH, AND OF 

THE MISSIONS 
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Chapter One— 

Futile Expeditions of the Spaniards to California. 

Father Salvatierra Gains a Firm Footing and Establishes Mission Loreto 

The only purpose of Divine Providence in the discovery of the route to the East Indies 

around the Cape of Good Hope and in the finding of the fourth continent seems beyond a 

doubt to have been the expansion of the Christian Faith and the eternal salvation of the 

many heathen who live in the East and the West. Aside from this, as Saint Theresa has 

said, these discoveries have brought to Europe and Europeans more harm than good. 

Many white men go to eternal perdition in India who could have found salvation in 

Europe. Men could have lived very well, just as in former times, without the goods, 

without the gold and silver which are brought from the New World and which only serve 

to increase pomp and voluptuousness. These things, however, were the little decoy 

whistles, or the bait, which lured foreign nations into the New World, and their explorers 

certainly did not spare any effort—particularly in America—to find treasure. There was no 

ocean they did not cross, no river they did not ford, no corner they did not search in the 

first century of their occupation. 

As a consequence of this untiring zeal to search for and to discover new treasures in these 

new lands, poor California could not very long remain hidden. The conqueror of the land 

and city of Mexico, Hernán Cortés himself, wanted also to become the conqueror of 

California. In the 'twenties of the sixteenth century he had sent several people to 

California, but all of them had poor success. Cortés' luck was better than that of the 

previous explorers; he at least saved his skin and got away to Acapulco! After Cortés, more 

than ten other Spaniards attempted to conquer California for the Crown of Spain, partly at 
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the king's expense, partly at their own; but until the end of the century all their efforts and 

expenses were in vain. Their enterprises remained fruitless more because of the 

barrenness and aridity of the soil, as 
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described in Part One of these reports, than because of the resistance of the inhabitants 

which the Spaniards encountered. Although there were bloody heads at times, because 

the California Indians felt bitter toward the whole Spanish nation, thanks to the evil 

behavior and infamous practices of the many pearl fishers who had enraged the natives. 

The Spaniards thought they would find rich gold and silver veins in California, as well as 

rich and productive soil. Since they found neither and were forced to live off the 

provisions they had brought along on their ships, all of them soon lost courage and turned 

back. It went so far that the Royal Council in Mexico proclaimed California an 

unconquerable land, and with this decision, California was forgotten. During the reign of 

Charles II, a certain Francisco Luzenilla[26] wanted to risk one more expedition to 

California—at his own expense and without assistance from the royal treasury—but his 

request was rejected. 

A member of the Spanish expeditions to California undertaken in the 1680's was Father 

Eusebius Kino,[27] then a Jesuit missionary in Sonora and formerly professor of 

mathematics at Ingolstadt. It did not seem impossible to him, or even very difficult, to 

conquer this land, provided the sole purpose was the eternal salvation of the natives, and 

if one brought with him a good supply of patience, generosity, and fortitude. 

One of Father Kino's contemporaries was Father Juan María Salvatierra, a Jesuit from 

Milan, of noble ancestry, formerly missionary in Tarahumára, Superior of all the missions, 

and later Provincial of the New Spain or Mexican Jesuit province. He was known to be a 

man of great religious zeal, gentle disposition, humility, patience, and kindness. At the 

same time he also possessed a healthy, strong, and powerful constitution. He gave many 

proofs of his qualities, as can be read in the history of his life, which has appeared in print. 

Father Kino discussed California at length with Father Salvatierra when the latter visited 

the missions of Sonora in his official capacity. Both men longed to go there; both felt a 

great desire to start the missionary work and the conversion of the Indians in California; 

however, God reserved this honor for Father Salvatierra alone. He finally received 

permission to sail to California after overcoming many objections from his superiors, as 

well as from the High Council and the Viceroy of Mexico, and after many presentations, 
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much pleading, and loss of time. The Viceroy, however, stated that the undertaking must 

be carried out at the expense of Father 
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Salvatierra, that the Father could not hope for help from the royal treasury, and would 

have no right to demand such help. Father Salvatierra had nothing except a few good 

friends, his gentle disposition, and his faith in God. And God did not forsake him, but 

provided him with a number of benefactors who desired to participate in such a holy 

work. Among others, a secular priest from Querétaro, Juan Cavallero y Ozio, donated no 

less than twenty thousand pesos; that is, forty thousand Rhenish guilders. He added to 

this gift his pledge to honor and pay promptly all notes drawn by Salvatierra on Juan 

Cavallero's name. A rich gentleman from Acapulco, Gil de la Sierpe, lent him a small 

galleot, gave him some alms, and made him a present of another vessel. 

Thereupon Salvatierra enlisted five soldiers, hired several others who could be of use, and 

loaded the ship with a small cannon and enough corn, dried beef, and other necessities to 

supply the group, as well as the California Indians, for several months. In October, 1697, 

Father Salvatierra ordered the anchors to be lifted and set sail from the province of 

Sinaloa under Divine guidance and the mighty protection of Our Lady of Loreto. Happily he 

landed nine days later, on a Saturday, in the Bay of San Dionisio, which is now named after 

Our Lady of Loreto. 

The California natives soon noticed the difference between these foreigners and new 

guests and those others whom they had seen previously in their land from time to time. 

After a few days, they laid aside their mistrust and sought to make friends with the 

newcomers. Father Salvatierra increased this friendship day by day with the help of small 

gifts and his own kind and gentle manner. Yet at times minor frictions did occur, but were 

settled without bloodshed. It was impossible to let the Indians have their will in all things, 

or to satisfy completely their voracity, because they sought to acquire by force what was 

not given to them voluntarily. 

A tent was set up to serve as a chapel, several huts were built of the poor California 

lumber, and all was enclosed by a parapet and a low bulwark. Everything which was 

necessary or customary under such circumstances was done as well as possible as a 

safeguard against unexpected or sudden attack from the barbarians. 



No time could be lost. There were too many mouths to feed, few provisions available, and 

absolutely nothing could be drawn from the land. For these reasons it was considered 

wise, after a few weeks had 
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passed, to send one of the two ships back to Sinaloa in order to fetch more provisions for 

California. In the meantime, Salvatierra began to learn the native language and to instruct 

his new parishioners. For this purpose he taught Spanish to a few young Californians. Thus 

he laid the foundations for the first mission, which he wished to be called Loreto in honor 

of the Mother of God. 

After a few months, the little ship which was sent to fetch provisions returned well 

loaded, just as want was beginning to make itself felt. It also brought some new soldiers 

and Father Píccolo, a Jesuit from Sicily. Before a year had passed, Father Salvatierra had 

learned the essentials of the native language, and he undertook a trip into the 

surrounding territories to visit neighboring tribes. Father Píccolo, however, laid the 

foundations for a second mission, eight hours from Loreto, in the year 1699. He named it 

for the Apostle of the Indies, St. Francis Xavier. 

Chapter Two— 

Of the Progress of the Established Missions and of the Founding of New Ones 

The year was 1700. Heretofore the enterprises of Father Salvatierra had brought no 

expense to the Catholic King. With the growth of the new mission, however, and with the 

preparations to penetrate farther into the land to found additional missions, expenses 

increased considerably. Salvatierra submitted a complete account and report to the 

Viceroy of Mexico, informing him of all that had occurred up to that time. He put before 

the Royal Council in Guadalajara an account not only of past expenditures, but stressed 

particularly the poverty of the mission. He mentioned the shipwreck of one of the vessels, 

the poor condition of the other, and emphasized the necessity of putting the 
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soldiers' pay on a stable basis. He pointed out that the casual alms which he received 

might cease any day, and might suddenly force him to abandon the enterprise. The Royal 

Council referred Father Salvatierra's case to the Viceroy. The latter reminded Salvatierra 

that he had been granted permission to go to California only if he could cover his own 



expenses. The Viceroy, however, did not consider the fact that taking possession of land is 

one thing, while holding it for the future is another. Salvatierra had already accomplished 

the first. The latter, however, he could not promise to do. After many remonstrances and 

a lengthy correspondence, the whole case was submitted for the king's judgment. Owing 

to His Majesty's sickness and subsequent death, however, as little was achieved and 

gained in Madrid as in Mexico. 

To these complications must be added the false rumors and the jealousy of those 

Spaniards who did not believe that the Jesuits should have ventured to penetrate into the 

California world of rocks, thorns, and barbarians, to live there solely and exclusively for 

the glory of God and the salvation of California Indians. Many Spaniards had sailed to 

California before the Jesuits; yet they could not and would not remain there. These 

rumors had already caused a decline in the generosity of some donors. Furthermore, in 

reports sent to Mexico, the captain of the soldiers then in California violently slandered 

the padres, sarcastically referring to their enterprise as an impossibility, as an insane 

whim. He did this because he was not permitted to employ the natives for pearl fishing as 

he wished. According to a royal decree, he owed obedience to Father Salvatierra, and the 

latter forbade him to use the Indians for such purposes. Besides, the great amount of 

work and hardship, of which there was no lack in such a country and at the beginning of 

such an enterprise, had already tired and irritated him. 

In view of so many negative answers and delays, and in view of the dangers and 

difficulties in securing quickly and safely the necessary provisions from across the sea, 

Salvatierra conceived the idea of opening a land route to California. At that time it was still 

uncertain whether California was a real island or only a peninsula. Missions had been 

established along the coast, on the Mexican side of the Gulf of California, from the 

twenty-fifth to the thirty-first degree. Salvatierra believed, if California were not an island, 

that it would not be difficult to establish communication by land between these missions 

and others to be founded 
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in California in the future. This would be an advantage to the new missions. He did not 

know, nor could he imagine at that time, that seventy and more years would pass before 

the missions on either side of the gulf would meet at the Río Colorado. He begged his old 

and good friend Father Kino to undertake a trip from Sonora to the abovementioned river 

to determine whether California was part of the mainland of North America, or was cut off 

by an arm of the sea and therefore an island. The journey was made not once but several 



times, although not along the seashore because of lack of water and the sandy coast, 

which is rather wide and almost thirty hours in length. By long, though necessary detours, 

the Río Gila was reached, and finally the Río Colorado. The expedition sailed down the 

river for several miles, crossed it, and marched many miles inland on the other shore. For 

the first time, although not with absolute certainty, California was declared a peninsula, 

much to the pleasure of Father Salvatierra. Nevertheless, much was lacking and still is to 

this day to bring about communication by land and to make possible the transport of 

provisions from the Pimería to California, as conceived by Father Salvatierra. Although by 

now the missions in California extend to the thirty-first degree, there still lies a 

considerable stretch of apparently bad land across from the point where California meets 

the Pimería. In the Pimería, Caborca is still the last mission to the north, just as it has been 

for more than seventy years. The many revolts and incursions, not only by the Pima and 

Seri Indians, but above all by the cruel Apaches, have kept these territories in constant 

fear for the last sixty years. These savages have plundered the land, destroyed the 

missions, and with their lances and arrows sent many a Spaniard to his grave. 

Meanwhile, not only had the two original missions of Loreto and San Xavier become more 

and more firmly established, but one by one eighteen others had been erected. The entire 

work was accomplished by missionaries themselves, although their efforts, worries, and 

troubles were more than once about to be abandoned and destroyed, since hundreds of 

dangers had to be faced, hunger, numerous shipwrecks, and native wars and uprisings. 

Philip V, of glorious memory, contributed not a little to this growth, for hardly had he 

ascended the throne than he ordered his regent in Mexico to pay annually to all the 

missionaries of California as much as to all the other missionaries, that is, six hundred 

Rhenish guilders for 
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their support. Furthermore, the California churches were to be equipped with bells, 

appointments for the celebration of Mass, and other necessities. In addition, a company 

of twenty-five soldiers was established, and a ship with a pilot and eight sailors was 

provided to serve the missions. For the permanent support of the entire undertaking, the 

treasury of Guadalajara was instructed to pay thirteen thousand pesos, or twenty-six 

thousand florins, annually. These were the royal orders. Many years passed, however, 

before they were carried out. Since no news from Mexico was received in Madrid 

announcing the execution of these decrees, they were reissued in 1705, 1708, and 1716, 

and, finally, in 1716 actual payments were made for the first time. 



Before that time, that is, from 1697 to 1716, more than three hundred thousand 

Spanish pesos duros , which is more than six hundred thousand guilders, had been spent 

on poor California. This sum, not so impressive in the New as in the Old World, yet not 

small or insignificant anywhere, had been collected by Father Salvatierra and his padres, 

and magnanimously donated by private persons eager to help in the work of saving souls. 

This may illustrate the generosity of rich Spaniards born or residing in America in instances 

where God's honor was concerned. These benefactors of the California missions were not 

left without just reward. For instance, money almost seemed to rain into the house of His 

Excellency, the high and well-born Marqués de la Villa-Puente, whose money chests were 

at all times at the disposal of the California and China missions, as well as other spiritual 

and worldly charitable organizations. He could equip and deliver several regiments of 

soldiers to his king during the protracted War of the Spanish Succession. When his good 

friend Don Gil de la Sierpe died in Mexico, Father Salvatierra envisioned his entrance into 

heaven, guided by fifty innocent and beautifully clothed children, at the exact hour of his 

death. The Father told those who were about him of this vision, and soon thereafter news 

from Mexico arrived verifying and ascertaining the truth of his statements as to the day, 

hour, and passing of Don Gil. All of these fifty children were baptized California Indians, 

and just that many and not more had died up to that time. Would similar rewards be 

lacking elsewhere if examples such as Don Gil's were followed? There is no virtue, 

according to Holy Scripture, which promises more rewards than charity. Yet even without 

any advantages it would be recompense enough for a 
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Christian heart to have done good, to have helped the soul or body of a person in need, 

and thus to have offered a helping hand to Jesus our Lord Himself. 

Meanwhile, in 1704, the first church was consecrated to Our Most Blessed Mother of 

Loreto. Shortly thereafter the sacrament of baptism was administered to a large number 

of adult California natives for the first time. It was considered prudent, yes, necessary, to 

test the perseverance of the newly converted for six years. 

About this time, Father Salvatierra had to leave California for a time. In spite of his 

refusals, he had been forced to take upon himself the office of Provincial in the Mexican 

province. His absence, however, was not of long duration. Even during the first year of 

holding his new office, he crossed the sea, spent two months in California, and worked like 

any other misssionary. In 1706, he received permission from Rome to resign his post, and 

returned to California in the following year, firmly resolved to spend the rest of his days 



among the natives. In 1717, however, he had to obey the orders of His Excellency, the 

Viceroy of Mexico, who called him to that city in order to confer with him about California. 

Father Salvatierra undertook this trip in spite of his advanced age and feeble health. He 

did not get farther than Guadalajara, the residence of the bishop, about a hundred and 

fifty hours distant from Mexico. He fell ill, and in the college, amid his brethren, Father 

Salvatierra died. It is to be believed that he soon reached the shores of eternal bliss after 

having crossed the California Sea more than twenty times and having exposed his life to 

many dangers by helping others solely for the love of God and his fellow men. The glory 

he acquired through his heroic virtues and his pains and labor for the salvation of the 

natives is everlasting. For this reason the whole city mourned, and he was interred there 

in the Lauretan chapel with all signal honors rendered to him by the cathedral chapter as 

well as by the Royal Council. 

I have already reported that, all in all, eighteen missions had been established in 

California. Of these, some were later transferred to other places and given different 

names. Two were combined into one, so that at the beginning of 1768 fifteen missions 

were counted. I want to enumerate them, not in chronological order, but according to 

their geographic location from the south to the north. 

The first is called San José del Cabo because it is situated very close 
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to the cabo or promontory of San Lucas on the California Sea. It was founded in 1720. The 

next, Santiago, or St. James, is twelve hours distant from the first named and four hours 

from the California Sea. It was established in 1721. The third, Todos Santos (All Saints), is 

situated across the peninsula from the aforementioned mission, almost on the shores of 

the Pacific Ocean. It was established in 1720. A missionary could make the trip between 

the two missions in one day were it not for an almost insurmountable mountain range, 

the furthermost point of which is called San Lucas, running between the two. A detour of 

three days is necessary should one of the two missionaries wish to visit the other. The one 

living at Santiago also administered Mission San José del Cabo. The fourth is called 

Nuestra Señora Dolorosa (Our Lady of Sorrow). It is about seventy or more hours distant 

from Todos Santos and six hours from the California Sea, and was founded in 1721. The 

fifth, San Luis Gonzaga, is situated between the two seas, seven hours from Mission 

Dolores, and was established in 1731. The sixth, San Xavier, is thirty hours distant from the 

aforementioned mission and eight hours from the California Sea. It was founded in 1699. 

The seventh, Loreto, was started in 1697. It is eight hours northeast of San Xavier, within a 



stone's throw of the California Sea. The eighth, San José Comondú, is situated closer to 

the Pacific than to the California Sea, a day's journey from San Xavier toward the 

northeast. It was established in 1708. The ninth, Purísima Concepción (Immaculate 

Conception), is a hard day's journey from San José del Cabo, going northwest, and not far 

from the Pacific. It was established about 1715. The tenth, Santa Rosalía, lies half an hour 

from the California Sea, a long day's journey from Purísima Concepción in a northeasterly 

direction, and was founded in 1705. The eleventh, Guadalupe, and the twelfth, San 

Ignacio, were founded in 1720 and 1728, respectively. Mission Guadalupe is a two-day 

journey from Purísima Concepción toward the north, not far from the Pacific Ocean, and 

San Ignacio is situated almost in the middle of the country, a one-day trip from Guadalupe 

and Purísima Concepción. The thirteenth, Santa Gertrudis, a two-day journey northwest of 

San Ignacio, was established in 1751. The fourteenth, San Borja, is a hard two-day journey 

from Santa Gertrudis in a northeasterly direction. It was founded in 1762. The fifteenth 

and last, Nuestra Señora de Columna (Our Blessed Lady of Columna), is a three-day 

journey from San Borja toward the California 
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Sea, and below the thirty-first degree, north. It was established in 1766. 

Each one of these fifteen missions had in my time its own priest, except the first two, 

which were both administered by the same missionary. All of them are built along 

an arroyo or rain-water course. Nearly all of them stand between high, forbidding, almost 

barren rocks which are difficult to climb. They are situated in places, which, after much 

searching and counseling, were considered the most favorable. A permanent store of 

drinking water was of foremost importance in choosing each location. 

Of these fifteen missions, six were endowed by the Marqués de la Villa-Puente; two by the 

Duquesa de Béjar and Gandia, of the house of Borgia; two by the secular priest Don Juan 

Cavallero y Ozio; one by Don Arteága; one (from his inheritance) by Father Luyando, a 

Jesuit from Mexico and a missionary in California; one by the Marquesa de la Peña; 

another by the Marqués Luis de Velasco; and finally, one by a certain congregation in 

Mexico. Out of gratitude and to their eternal glory, these honored founders and 

benefactors are mentioned here. 

Many hardships were checked by the payments received from King Philip V and by the 

aforementioned endowments to the missions (to which all the California natives belonged 

who lived between Cabo San Lucas and the thirty-first degree, north). Although it required 

great effort, almost all the missions had found some land for sowing and planting and for 



breeding large and small animals, horses and mules. Thus help could be given not only to 

the sick and needy Indians, but also to soldiers and sailors. Notwithstanding these efforts, 

many thousands of bushels of Indian corn, dried vegetables, many horses and mules, fats, 

and sometimes also meat had to be brought from places across the sea. The supplies were 

at times so meager in California that a soldier received only half his grain ration, or had to 

eat his meat without bread, as one missionary had to do for six weeks. 

After enumerating the missions, their location, and their benefactors, it might be 

agreeable to the reader if he were introduced to the foremost of these missions, the one 

of Loreto, the capital city, and at that time the residence of the California Governor and 

Viceroy. From this description, the reader may draw his own conclusions about what to 

think of the rest of those California cities and places to be found on maps, in histories, and 

other books, but which are not actually in California. Loreto is, as I have already remarked, 

situated only a stone's throw from 

 

― 117 ― 

the California Sea. It lies in the center of a stretch of sand which reaches for almost half an 

hour's distance up to the mountains. This land is without grass, without a tree, a bush, or 

any shade. Loreto bears as little resemblance to a city, a fortified place, or a fortress, as a 

whale to a night owl. The dwelling of the missionary, who was also the administrator and 

who had a lay brother to assist him, is a small, square, flat-roofed, one-story structure of 

adobe brick thinly coated with lime. One wing of the building is the church, and only this 

one is, in part, constructed of stone and mortar. The other three wings contain six small 

rooms each, approximately six yards wide and as many yards long, with a light hole 

toward the sand or the sea. The vestry and the kitchen are found here, also a small 

general store, where the soldiers, sailors, their wives and children buy buckles, belts, 

ribbons, combs, tobacco, sugar, linen, shoes, stockings, hats, and similar things, for no 

Italian or any other trader ever thought of making a fortune in California. 

Next to this quadrangle are four other walls, within which dried steer and beef meat, 

tallow, fat, soap, unrefined sugar, chocolate, cloth, leather, wheat, Indian corn, several 

millions of small black bugs which thrive on the grain, lumber, and other things are stored. 

Beyond these imposing buildings, a gunshot's distance away, a shed may be seen which 

serves simultaneously as guardhouse and barracks for unmarried soldiers. The entire 

soldiery and garrison of Loreto, their captain and his lieutenant included, consists 

occasionally of six or eight, but never more than twelve or fourteen men. 



In addition, there are toward the west two rows of huts made of dirt, in which dwell about 

a hundred and twenty natives, young and old, men and women. About two to three and a 

half dozen mud huts are scattered over the sand, without order, looking more like 

cowsheds of the poorest little village than homes, and usually containing but one single 

room. These are occupied by the married soldiers, the few sailors, the one and a half 

carpenters and equally numerous blacksmiths, and their wives and children, and serve as 

lodging, living room, storeroom, and bedroom. Finally, a few poles thatched with brush 

make up the armory, or the shipyard. All this is Loreto, the capital city of California! He 

who has seen the Moscovite realm, Poland, or Lapland will know whether there is any 

small village in these countries or whether there is a milking shed in Switzerland more 

dilapidated than Loreto and its huts. Moreover, 
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the heat in summer is incredibly intense, and there is no other relief from it save a bath in 

the sea. There is neither running nor standing water on the surface, although it can be 

found by digging down into the sand to a certain depth. On the other hand, there is no 

scarcity of mosquitoes! 

May God be gracious to the honorable gentleman Don Gaspar Portolá, a Catalonian, 

captain of dragoons, and first Governor of California from 1767. The office was conferred 

upon him as an honor and a reward, because of false reports about the good quality and 

wealth of the land. His punishment, however, could not have been more severe (except 

death, the gallows, or prison for life) had he sworn a false oath to the king or proved a 

traitor to his country. Of all the physical and mental pleasures which people of his 

character usually seek, none is to be found in California. He is practically forced to remain 

within his four little walls, day in and day out, throughout the year. Where could he go? 

With what and with whom could he entertain and enjoy himself or pass the time? In the 

environment of Loreto and in all of California, there is no hunting, except for the natives, 

no place to walk, no games to be played; there are no conversations possible, and no visits 

paid. In a word, there is nothing, literally nothing, for such a man to do. The amount of 

business, or the dispatching of couriers will not shorten the time for him. All that a viceroy 

of California can do in the course of a year is to mediate a few minor quarrels and brawls 

between the hungry miners, or to mete out punishment if necessary. There may be a few 

letters for the secretary, whom he brought along, to write ordering some Indian corn from 

overseas for his dragoons and miquelets.[28] 

https://publishing.cdlib.org/ucpressebooks/view?docId=ft5r29n9xv&chunk.id=nsd0e3546&toc.id=part3&toc.depth=1&brand=ucpress;query=bible&anchor.id=d0e3620#X


There is, however, one advantage he can draw from this governorship if he were money 

mad or wished to save. He receives a yearly salary of six thousand Rhenish guilders. Since 

there is absolutely no opportunity in California to be extravagant or to squander money, 

he can probably lay aside five thousand nine hundred guilders every year without being 

accused of penny-pinching or miserliness. His field chaplain, Don Fernandez, a secular 

priest, wanted to leave the country as soon as he saw that there was no one to speak to 

all day long and nothing to do but to sit in his hermitage, to gaze at the blue sky and the 

green sea, or to play a piece on his guitar. 
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Chapter Three— 

Of the Revenues and the Administration of the Missions 

Some of the revenues, which provided the missionaries and many of the Indians with food 

and clothing and helped to maintain the churches, were certain (except for the dangers of 

the sea), others accidental. To the latter group belonged everything which soil and the 

animals produced in return for much effort and work. More will be told about these in 

chapters five and six. The first mentioned were one thousand Rhenish guilders designated 

for each mission by the respective founder and benefactor. This sum could be spent at the 

missionaries' discretion. 

According to the will and command of Philip V, each missionary in California was supposed 

to receive six hundred guilders annually from the royal treasury; that is, he was to receive 

as much as any other missionary who worked in the vineyard of the Lord in the Spanish 

possessions in the Americas. Such a decree was, however, not acceptable for three 

reasons. In the first place, the income was not secure, since the royal officials, using all 

sorts of pretexts, would at times omit payments for several years in succession. Then, too, 

the income did not seem sufficient, considering the infertility of the land and the necessity 

of importing everything which this money could buy from Mexico, which is such a great 

distance away. And finally, there was no lack of generous people who offered a thousand 

guilders. Perhaps it was foreseen that California would bring very little to the royal 

treasury and that the expenses for ships and soldiers, already large enough, would be 

likely to increase in the future. 

Consequently, from 1697 to 1768 all the missionaries in California were supported by 

private persons and not by the Catholic King. These benefactors donated either twenty 

thousand guilders in cash for every new mission or enough property to guarantee an 

income of about one thousand guilders per year. These properties and others bought with 



donated money and dedicated to the support of California missionaries specialized largely 

in raising livestock. These were scattered all over 
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Mexico, some of them as far as two hundred hours away from the capital city, Mexico, the 

home of the administrator, who had to take care of everything. His task was not easy, and 

his office caused him much travel and much sweat. Every year, in March, he had to send 

to each missionary the equivalent of a thousand guilders in goods. Each consignment 

depended upon the individual missionary's needs. These goods were moved overland by 

mules a distance of two hundred and fifty hours from Mexico to Matanchel on the 

California gulf. There they were loaded on ships and sent across the sea to Loreto, another 

three hundred hours' journey. On sea, everything was duty free; the sea transport itself 

did not cost the missionary anything, but the freight on land was more than one hundred 

guilders for only four bales of goods, even though the mules, after being relieved of their 

burdens, could graze freely, without any cost, on the pastures of America. 

These bales contained all the precious things which a missionary in the course of a year 

needed for himself and for his church. They might include a coat, a few yards of linen, a 

few pairs of shoes, twenty or more pounds of white wax, some chocolate (which in 

America is like daily bread and which any common laborer thinks he is entitled to drink), 

and again, some linen or cotton goods with which other possible necessities, especially 

Indian corn for the natives in the event the harvest at the mission was insufficient, were to 

be bought in Loreto during the year. One year a surplice might be ordered, or some other 

priestly vestment; the next, a stole; the third, a choir cope, a bell, a carved or painted 

picture, an altar or something else for the church. The remainder, which usually made up 

about three quarters of the entire consignment, consisted of all kinds of blue and white, 

coarse and rough cloth to cover the naked Californians. 

Of these naked ones who had to be clad, as many as could be fed and employed by the 

missionary were, so to speak, permanent residents at the mission. They worked at 

agriculture; they knitted and wove. Some were needed in the service of the mission as a 

sexton, goat herdsman, attendant for the sick, catechist, magistrate, fiscal, or cook (there 

were two and they were dirty, one for the missionary and one for the natives). Only four 

of all the missions, and small ones at that, were able to clothe and support all of their 

parishioners and therefore keep them in the mission throughout the year. In all the 

others, the natives were divided into 
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three or four groups, and each in turn had to come to the mission once a month. There 

they had to encamp for a whole week. 

Every day at sunrise all the natives attended Mass. During the service they recited the 

Rosary. Before and after the service they were taught Christian doctrine by being asked 

questions in their own language. After this, the missionary gave them instruction, also in 

their native tongue, for a half or three quarters of an hour. Then, after having received 

breakfast, each one went either to work or, if he pleased, to wherever he wished; if the 

missionary was unable to provide him with food, he searched in the field for his daily 

bread. Toward sunset, at the call of ringing bells, they all assembled again to recite the 

Rosary and the Lauretan litany in the church or, on Sundays and holidays, to sing. 

Customarily the bells were rung three times a day, but they were also rung at three 

o'clock in the afternoon in remembrance of the mortal agony of our Lord and, according 

to Spanish custom, at eight o'clock in the evening to remind everyone to pray for the 

dead. After the week had passed, the natives returned to their native land, some three, 

others six, others fifteen and twenty hours from the mission. I mean by "native land" 

those districts in the open where each little tribe is accustomed to live, although each of 

them has at least a half dozen such districts. One of these territories gives its name to 

many tribes. 

On the highest holidays of the year and during Passion Week, the whole congregation 

assembled. In addition to the usual fare, they received the meat of several head of cattle 

and a few bushels of Indian corn. Dried figs and grapes were generously distributed, 

provided these things were available. Similar foods or some pieces of clothing were also 

distributed as prizes in games or shooting contests. 

To safeguard order in and outside of the mission, fiscals and magistrates were chosen 

from each group. Their duties were to bring those present at the mission into the church 

at a given signal and, at the proper time, to round up those who had been roaming the 

fields for three weeks and to lead them to the mission. Furthermore, they were supposed 

to prevent all disorders and public misconduct, to review the catechism in the morning 

before the natives left the mission and in the evening after they had returned, to 

persuade them to recite the Rosary in the fields, to punish culprits for minor offenses, to 

report serious crimes to the proper authority, to see that the natives preserved silence 

and 
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were reverent during religious services, to attend the sick in the field and bring them to 

the mission, and similar duties. As insignia of the office and the power vested in them, 

each carried a staff, sometimes one with a silver knob. Most of them were proud of their 

position, but only a few did justice to their functions, for quite frequently they received 

the beating and pushing around which they should have delivered to others. In addition to 

these officials, there were catechists who recited the Christian doctrine to the natives and 

instructed those who were especially ignorant. 

To prevent disorder when there was not enough food for all the natives, the missionary or 

someone in his place distributed every day, after Mass and Christian instruction, cooked 

wheat and Indian corn among the blind, the aged, the weak, and the pregnant women. 

This was repeated at noon and in the evening after the Rosary. For those who were ill, 

special food was prepared, and the sick received meat at least once a day. When there 

was work to do, the laborers were offered three meals a day if they attended to their 

duty. The work was not hard. Would to God there had been enough of it to make all 

California natives labor and toil industriously all day as the poor peasants and craftsmen 

do in Germany. How many vices and misdeeds could have been prevented every day! The 

working hours began very late and ceased even before the sun had set. At noon the 

workers took a two-hour rest. Without doubt six common laborers in Germany achieve 

more in six days than twelve of these natives do in twelve days. Moreover, all their labor 

was exclusively for their own and their fellow men's advantage and benefit. The 

missionary gained nothing by it except worry and annoyance, and he could easily have 

procured somewhere else the twelve bushels of wheat or Indian corn he consumed during 

a year. 

However, this missionary was the only refuge of young or old, the sick or the healthy. 

Upon him alone lay the responsibility for everything which had to be done. From him the 

natives solicited food and medicine, clothing and shoes, tobacco for smoking and snuffing, 

and tools if one of them wanted to do some work for himself. He alone had to mediate 

quarrels, look after small children who had lost their parents, care for the sick, and find 

someone to watch over a dying person. I knew of more than one missionary who could 

rarely begin his breviary by the light of the sun, such was his drudgery throughout the 

whole day. I could relate at length how, for instance, Father Ugarte[29] and Father 

Druet,[30] mud and water well over their knees, worked harder in the 
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stifling field than the poorest peasant and day laborer. Or, how others labored for their 

church and house, did tailoring and carpentering, or practiced the professions of masonry, 

cabinet-, harness-, brick-, and tile-making, or were physicians and surgeons, choirmasters 

and teachers, managers, guardians, hospital attendants, or beadles. The intelligent reader 

will easily understand all this when he recalls what was said in Parts One and Two of this 

book about the character of the land and its inhabitants. For the same reason, he will be 

able to conclude which were the revenues and incomes of the missionaries in California as 

well as in hundreds of other sections of the New World. 

To the "revenues" the reader may also add the hearing of confession and the visiting of 

the sick out in the field and far away from the mission. At all times, day or night, the 

missionary might suddenly be called to a distant place, three, six, twelve, or twenty hours 

away, to administer the sacrament to a sick person. Sometimes he arrived too late despite 

his zeal and speed; at other times, however, the sick man himself walked part of the way 

to meet him. Or perhaps the missionary, after a long and exhausting march, would find 

the patient at the indicated place, but with nothing more serious than a slight swelling or 

the colic. Of one thing the missionary was certain. He would find no roof or bed on the 

whole journey but the sky and earth, and no food but what he carried with him. This 

caused difficulties and hardships for some missions, for often there was nothing to take 

along on such occasions. Under such conditions the missionary had to rely upon chocolate 

while traveling to and fro. 

On one such occasion, I had to spend three consecutive nights in the open field. Because 

of a particularly bad stretch of way which I did not care to traverse in the dark, I had not 

been able to reach my house on the third day, as I expected. For my evening meal I had 

not even four ounces of bread (or more correctly speaking, corn pancakes) and not quite a 

cupful of water, and this was to be distributed among three people! The humorous part of 

the situation was that, shortly before opening my "cellar" and "bread basket," I had read 

in my breviary the following passage from Isaiah: "Dabit vobis Dominus panem arctum; et 

potum brevem." The patient in this case had nothing but two swollen cheeks. This 

happened in 1758. He was still alive and well in 1768. 

To hear confession was in every respect a very disconsolate, highly annoying, and 

melancholic task (particularly after I came to know the 
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natives very well and learned to see behind their trickiness, hypocrisy, and their wicked 

way of life). This was not only because of the coercion or the fictitious devotion which was 



for many the only reason to go to confession, but also because of their stupidity and 

limited intelligence and the surprising ignorance they revealed in spite of repeated 

instruction. There were also the many temptations which they did not care very much to 

avoid, and the father confessor was unable to do anything about it. And finally, most 

annoying was the lack of preparation for confession and the continuous return to sin of all 

or most of them. I once asked a native woman who understood Spanish (it must have 

been during the pitahaya season) why she had not done the penance imposed on her 

after previous confession (and which may have consisted of reciting one or several 

rosaries). In good Spanish she replied, "De puro comer," "Because I was eating." I asked 

another woman, a rather intelligent person, what she had done or thought before my 

arrival at the church. The blunt answer was, "Nothing." She did not have to swear an oath; 

I believed it. My experience of many years with many such cases proved to me only too 

well that nothing is less important to the natives than to prepare for confession. One 

reason among others is that preparation for confession is an exertion engaging head, 

heart, and soul. Such efforts a California Indian dislikes even more than manual labor. 

Chapter Four— 

Of the Churches in California, Their Furnishings and Ornaments 

The misery and poverty of California was least apparent in the churches. Although the 

homes of the missionaries were poorly furnished and the kitchens badly equipped, the 

churches were richly decorated 
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and the vestries well supplied with everything. The missionary's kitchen contained a 

copper pan, a small copper vessel in which to prepare the chocolate, both tinned for the 

first and last time when they were bought in Mexico; two or three pots made of clay and 

goat manure, unglazed and only half baked on charcoal in the open air; a small spit, which 

often remained unused for half a year; and some cow bladders filled with fat. In the rest 

of the house were to be found a crucifix, some paper pictures on the wall, an adequate 

library, two or three hard chairs, an equally hard bed without curtains, or in its place, a 

cattle skin on the bare ground. These items comprised the complete furnishings of kitchen 

and house. In the churches, however, it was quite different. 

As a rule, the churches were built before any thought was given to housing comfortably its 

servants. The churches were well and as beautifully constructed as possible. Lime was 

carried from a distance of many miles, and lacking other material, the hard wacke stones 

were hewn into cornerstones and frames for doors and windows. The church of Loreto is 



very large, yet consists only of four artless walls and a flat roof made of well-joined beams 

of cedar wood. However, no other church could compete with its paintings or in the 

costliness of its clerical vestments. The vaults of three other churches were made of bricks 

or tufa stone. A fourth, which in size and artistic beauty was to surpass all others, was 

about to receive a vault when the architect, a native-born Mexican missionary and builder, 

was expelled and forced to depart for Europe. From the New World, his native land, he 

was sent to the Old World and into misery. He was not even told whether the 

construction of the church or something else was responsible for his banishment. The 

church of Todos Santos is vaulted, but with wood which was brought to the mission with 

the help of a great many teams of oxen over many miles from a very steep and high 

mountain range. It is large, richly and amply decorated. The church of the mission of San 

Xavier was built like a cross, with three imposing doors and three completely gilded altars, 

a high tower, a graceful cupola, and large windows, which were the first and only glass 

windows to be seen in California during those last few years. 

No church had less than three bells; but at Loreto, at San Xavier, and at San José Comondú 

from seven to nine bells can be counted. They do not sound badly when they are rung, or 

to speak more correctly, when 
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they are struck, according to Spanish custom. Two churches had organs; a third expected 

to receive an organ from Mexico. Most of the altars were completely gilded, and the walls 

were covered with pictures in golden frames. 

Aside from a few which were rarely ever used, I, never saw in California a clerical 

vestment or choir cope which was not silk lined and bordered with good galloons. The 

material of which they were made was usually very rich and costly, and thirty to forty 

guilders were paid for a Spanish ell (four spans). Chasuble and antipendia were matched 

and made of the same cloth. 

In all the churches, the steps leading to the altar were covered with carpets (different 

ones were used on work days, Sundays and high holidays). In one church there was also a 

carpet for the choir, covering the entire, and not very small, floor; it was used only on the 

highest holidays. 

All chalices, of which each mission had more than two, the ciboria, the monstrances, the 

little wine and water vessels, the censers, and sometimes the holy water fonts which hang 

near the entrance, the little altar bells, the two big lamps, the various crucifixes used on 



the altar and in processions, and more than two dozen big candlesticks for the altar were 

made of solid silver. A big tabernacle, an antipendium of hammered silver, and a chalice of 

solid gold can be seen in Loreto, unless they have recently been melted down. 

The surplices, humerales, choir robes, and altar cloths were of the finest linen, and many 

of them were adorned with beautiful white embroidery. None of the surplices, choir 

robes, and altar covers were without lace, some of it very wide and shot through with 

threads of gold. 

Creditable singing, like beautiful Lauretan litanies, could be heard in some churches. 

Father Xavier Bischoff,[31] from the county of Glatz in Bohemia, and Father Pietro 

Nascimben,[32] of Venice, Italy, were particularly responsible for introducing choral singing 

to California. They had trained the Californians, both men and women, with incomparable 

effort and patience. 

A few questions might now arise in the reader's mind, which, before I proceed further, I 

should like to answer. First: How is it possible to erect such churches in California? 

Answer: Building material, like workable stone, lime (and the necessary wood for burning 

it), is hard to find 
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at most missions. It takes much effort to transport these and many other materials to the 

proper places. However, the zeal to serve the glory of God, as well as time, industry, hard 

work, patience, and a large number of donkeys or mules will overcome all difficulties. 

Many California natives learned stone masonry and brick laying. A missionary, a carpenter, 

or a competent soldier supervises the construction, or a master builder from another 

place is engaged for pay. The common labor is performed by the Indians. While the 

building is under construction, the natives do not have to roam the fields in search of 

food, and they are not missed in their household or business anyway. For scaffolding, any 

kind of rough lumber and poles will do. Should some pieces be too short, then two or 

more of them are tied together with strips of fresh leather; also the trunks of palm trees 

are used for scaffolding. When none are available nearby, they are sometimes brought 

from a distance as much as eighty or more hours away. Instead of constructing the 

framework for the vault with boards, all sorts of odd pieces of useless wood and the dry 

skeletons of thorn bushes (described in another place in this book) are used and coated 

over with clay or mud. Except for the three missions in the south, the land is full of 

common building stones. It is therefore possible to construct within a few years and with 

https://publishing.cdlib.org/ucpressebooks/view?docId=ft5r29n9xv&chunk.id=nsd0e3677&toc.id=part3&toc.depth=1&brand=ucpress;query=bible&anchor.id=d0e3704#X
https://publishing.cdlib.org/ucpressebooks/view?docId=ft5r29n9xv&chunk.id=nsd0e3677&toc.id=part3&toc.depth=1&brand=ucpress;query=bible&anchor.id=d0e3707#X


little expense such a respectable California church as would do credit to any European 

city. 

Second: Where did all these treasures come from, such as silver vessels, altars and 

paintings, since there are no painters, goldsmiths or sculptors, and there is not even a 

skillful tailor in California? Answer: Everything is imported from the city of Mexico, five to 

six hundred hours away from California, where there is such a surplus of these artists, 

artisans, and craftsmen, white and dark, that at times they purposely produce poor work 

so they may soon get another order. The high altar of San Xavier was sent in thirty-two 

boxes, piecemeal, and already gilded. The cloth for the church vestments was also 

imported, but they were made in California. When I was forced to leave California, I was at 

work on a piece of cloth which cost forty guilders an ell, and hardly any of the silk could be 

seen in it. 

Third: How is it possible to acquire such rich church ornaments in a country as poor as 

California? The answer to this question and the solution of this riddle I shall withhold until 

the end of the fifth and the sixth chapter. Meanwhile I will state, however, that such 

treasures could 
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be and were purchased thanks to good management. The fervent aim was to induce 

reverence and respect for the house of God in the newly converted Indians, and also to 

create among them prestige for the Catholic religious services. It is to be desired that 

certain gentlemen in Europe—particularly those living in the country—take this as an 

example. Their houses are incomparably better decorated and equipped with necessary 

and ornamental fittings than their churches and sacristies, and these gentlemen appear 

better dressed in public than in front of the altar. Although churches of many villages are 

poorly endowed and have little or no income, those who attend the services of such a 

church or own the village get so much more. These gentlemen undoubtedly could win the 

love of their fellow parishioners and subjects and earn eternal gratitude if they donated 

some of their surplus to their church, either for the acquisition of a new, clean altar, a 

neat pulpit and benches, a fine alb, a respectable mass book, or a silver ciborium, or 

something similar. Thus they might make it possible to throw aside the age-old, worn out, 

badly torn, shrunk and half-decayed altar vestments, and coarse surplices which have 

served them and their ancestors long enough. 

Chapter Five— 

Of Agriculture in California 



It says in the Holy Scriptures that the evangelical worker deserves his pay and that he shall 

eat that which is given to him by the people he instructs and to whom he preaches. But 

what can the California Indian, who has nothing and who is barely able to ward off 

starvation, give to his missionary? And how could the latter endure the California victuals 

for a long period of time without the aid of a miracle? At which market could he buy what 

he needs? It was, therefore, important that 

 

― 129 ― 

the first missionaries who lived on the grain and meat they had brought with them from 

Sonora and Sinaloa, across the sea, should be intent on agriculture and animal husbandry 

in order to feed themselves and their successors, as well as the soldiers and sailors, the 

sick Indians and catechumen. Thus, at all missions where conditions permitted, the land 

was cultivated and livestock was introduced. Concerning land, there is enough of it, even 

though the soil is hard and full of rocks. But there is not sufficient water. Consequently, 

water was taken wherever and however it was found. The site for a new mission was 

determined, if possible, by the availability of at least some water which could be used to 

irrigate the land, either at the mission, or in a place several miles away. No effort was 

spared. In some places, water was brought half an hour's distance over irregular terrain 

through narrow channels or troughs carved out of the rock. At other locations, water was 

collected from six or twelve places—a handful from each source—and conducted into a 

single basin. Some swamps were filled with twenty thousand loads of stones and as many 

loads of earth. And sometimes just as many stones had to be cleared away to make this or 

that piece of land tillable. Nearly everywhere it was necessary to surround the water as 

well as the soil with retaining walls or bulwarks, and to erect dams, partly to keep the 

small amount of water from leaking out, and partly to keep the soil from being washed 

away by the torrents of rain. Even so, all the work was often useless. At best one had to 

patch and to repair every year, and sometimes it was necessary to start all over again. 

But in spite of all this, and even though not the smallest area of productive land was left to 

lie fallow, and though the corn ripened twice a year, there was never enough corn and 

wheat to feed twelve to fifteen hundred adult Californians, or to get along without 

bringing in several thousand bushels of grain and other requisites from some other place 

for the sustenance of the soldiers. 

The plow of California—and, from what I have seen, also of other districts in America—

consists of a piece of iron shaped like a hollow tile, with a long point or beak on one end. 

On the other end a wooden stick is inserted into the hollow iron, which permits the 



plowman to guide the plow. It has no wheels, and the oxen drag rather than pull it. After 

the soil is cut and turned over by the plow, deep furrows are hoed. With a pointed stick, 

small holes are made on the slanting sides of each 
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furrow. The wheat is placed in these holes, which are closed by pushing in the dirt with 

the foot and tamping it down. This is slow work, and much help is required. As soon as the 

seed is in the ground, the crows arrive and march from one hole to the next. Unless a 

large number of sentinels are standing guard to ward them off, the birds dig up all the 

grain. 

The mice are even worse than the crows because they work unseen and during the night 

like other thieves. Thus, many times after half the seed had sprouted, more days were 

required for a second and third seeding. When the planting was finished, water was run 

through the furrows once every week throughout the growing season until the kernels 

began to harden. Grain could be planted all year long, but it was generally done in 

November. In May the wheat was either cut or the spikes were broken off one by one. 

The same system was used for planting corn, beans, and a variety of large Spanish peas 

called garbanzos (chick-peas), without which the Spaniards cannot live and which they 

cook together with many other vegetables. As a rule, they are hard when served at 

mealtime. 

Other things grown in California were squash, pumpkins, watermelons, and other melons. 

In three missions even some rice was raised. Besides these various garden plants, figs, 

oranges, lemons, pomegranates, bananas, and some olive trees and date palms were 

grown. Of European and German fruits, there were none in California except a few peach 

trees. From them, two rather small and stale peaches were once sent to me from a place 

thirty hours away. At two missions there was sugar cane. At several others cotton was 

planted, from which summer clothes, stockings, caps, and other things were woven and 

knitted for the natives. 

It was not necessary to buy sacramental wine elsewhere. The land produces it, and 

without doubt it could become an excellent and generous product if cool cellars, good 

barrels, and skilled vintners were available, because the grapes are honey-sweet and of 

superior flavor. Five missions have vineyards. The juice is merely pressed from the grapes 

by hand and stored in stone jars. These jars hold approximately fifteen measures (one 

measure is two quarts, approximately) and are left by the ship which makes a yearly visit 



to California on her way from the Philippine island of Luzón to Acapulco in Mexico. The 

storage cellar for the wine is an ordinary room on level ground and—in California— 
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necessarily warm. Therefore usually half of the grape juice, or even more of it, turns to 

vinegar. Ten or fifteen jars full of sacramental wine were sent each year to the missions 

across the California Sea and to the four or six missions in California which had no 

vineyards. When it left the cellar, the wine was good, but it did not always arrive in the 

same condition because it had to be carried on muleback in the hot sun for fifty or more 

hours. As a result, the wine often turned sour, sometimes on the way, sometimes soon 

after it was delivered. 

It was not permissible to give wine to the Indians. Some of the missionaries never tasted 

any except during Mass. One measure of it sold for six florins, so that neither soldier nor 

sailor could afford to get drunk frequently. Yet there was no aged or choice wine in 

California. 

From these facts it can be seen that only a small quantity of wine was successfully 

produced. It was not surprising that many times I and my colleagues had no wine, even for 

the Holy Mass. Yet it has been claimed that the missionaries of California sold much wine 

and sent it to other lands. The grape vines, as well as the fig and other trees in California, 

have to be watered just like wheat and corn. 

Chapter Six— 

Of the Livestock in California 

Animal husbandry was the other temporal matter which required much care and thought 

at the California missions, and without which they could not have survived. For that 

reason, horses and donkeys, cows and oxen, goats and sheep were brought there in the 

very beginning. Had any of these animals known about California or how badly they and 

their offspring would fare in the new colony, they would surely have preferred a hundred 

times to run away as far as their legs could carry them rather than to let themselves be 

shipped to California. 
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Cattle, sheep, and goats had to supply the meat for the healthy and the sick, but they 

were also needed because their tallow was used to make candles and soap, for ships and 

boats, and they furnished the fat to prepare the beans. In California as well as elsewhere 

in America, the beans are not prepared with butter churned from milk, but with the so-

called lard or rendered fat and the marrow of the bones. For this purpose, every time a 

well-fed cow or ox was killed, which was a rare occurrence, every bit of fat was carefully 

cut from the meat, rendered, and conserved in skin bags and bladders. This fat was used 

for the preparation of food and for frying the very lean or dried meat. Some of the hides 

were tanned for shoes and saddles and for bags in which everything was carried from the 

field to the mission or anywhere else. Other skins were used raw to make sandals for the 

natives, or were cut into strips for ropes, cords, or thongs, which were used for tying, 

packing, and other similar tasks. The natives used the horns to scoop up water or to fetch 

food from the mission. 

Without horses or mules it would also have been impossible to exist. They were needed 

for guarding the cattle and carrying burdens, and also as a means for traveling by the 

missionary or by the soldier. It would have been difficult to make much progress on foot in 

such a hot and uneven land. 

Sheep too can serve a good purpose for people who have no clothes—if only the flocks 

had not been so small because of the lack of feed. Moreover, the sheep left a good part of 

their fleece on the thorns through which they passed. Wherever a flock could be 

maintained and increased to a good number, there were also spinning wheels and 

weaving looms, and the people received new outfits more frequently than at other 

missions. Of pigs, there were hardly a dozen in the whole land, perhaps because they 

cannot root up the dry, hard ground and have no mud holes to wallow in. 

Wherever circumstances permitted it, no labor was spared to plant or seed the ground. 

Small or large herds of sheep and goats were maintained, as well as a "flying corps" of 

cows and oxen, and care was taken that horses and mules would not die out. 

The goats and sheep returned every evening with full or empty stomachs to their folds. At 

times it was difficult to extract a pint of milk from six of the goats. The cattle had free 

passage and were per- 
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mitted to wander fifteen and more hours in every direction to find their feed. They were 

brought in only once a year when their tails were trimmed to make halters from the hair. 



At the same time, the calves born during the last year had a piece clipped off their ears 

and were branded with a sign, so that they could be identified if they lost their way or 

strayed into other territory. The same thing was done to colts and young mules. 

To keep the livestock from straying too far, or from disappearing entirely, five or six 

herders were necessary. It was their job to ride one week in one direction, the next week 

in another, in order to keep the animals closer together. When the herders rode forth, 

they always took half a legion of horses or mules with them. Then they would go at full 

gallop over mountains and valleys, over rocks and thorns. Since neither horse nor mule 

was shod and fodder was so scarce and poor, and since at times the galloping lasted for 

many days, often weeks in succession, the herders needed to change their mounts many 

times a day. To protect a few hundred cows, therefore, almost as may horses were 

required. Hunger alone did not make these animals run so far afield. They also suffered 

from persecution by the natives, who killed more of them in the open than were brought 

to the mission for slaughter; nor did the Indians spare horses or mules. They relished the 

meat of the one as much as that of the other. 

All these animals were very small. Scarcely three or four hundred pounds of meat and 

bones could be obtained from a steer. The milk was only for the calves. I have already 

reported in another chapter that for nine months of the year the animals were as skinny 

as dogs and carried not a pound of fat on their bodies. They ate thorns, two inches long, 

together with stems, as though they were the tastiest of grasses. Thus, except to furnish 

poor and insufficient food for not too many people, three or four hundred head of such 

cattle barely paid enough to buy the bread that two Spanish cow herders and their helpers 

ate in one year. Yet the herders were as essential at some missions as was the livestock. 

To allow the animals to go unguarded in California was like sending them to the 

slaughtering bench, or like setting the wolf to guard the sheep. 

The goats and sheep were no better off than the cattle, and the laziness of the native 

herders added a good deal to their hardships. 
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More than once during these seventeen years have I seen a flock of sheep numbering four 

to five hundred head reduced by hunger to eighty or even fifty. More than half of this time 

I received very little from them, because after they were skinned, the carcasses were 

more fit to be used as lanterns at nighttime than as roasts in the kitchen. 



Among the California horses there was one very good strain, agile and hardy. They were 

small, however, and increased in number very slowly, so that every year others had to be 

bought outside of California to keep the soldiers mounted. Only the donkey, who is not so 

fussy and always patient wherever it may be, was fairly well off in California. It worked 

little and ate the thorns and stalks as though eating the finest oats. 

If what I have reported in this and in the preceding chapter about agriculture and animal 

husbandry in California should lead to the conclusion, or even suggest, that the 

missionaries sought or found profit in these activities, such would be an error. I knew not 

one among them who did not regard this work as a heavy burden which he would gladly 

have slipped from his shoulders. It was definitely a hardship—equal to the services of 

shiftless soldiers—which had to be endured in order to help the California Indians win the 

Kingdom of Heaven. Aside from this benefit, the natives derived another profit from the 

labors of the missionaries. Through small gifts the hearts of a poor, barbarian people could 

be won, and such gifts saved many of them from pernicious laziness and idle roving. 

Furthermore, even if the mountains of California had been made of solid silver, I cannot 

see what temporal prestige or selfish gain the missionaries could have acquired from such 

labor and worry, to which they certainly were not accustomed. Voluntarily and irrevocably 

they left their country, parents, brothers and sisters, friends and acquaintances, and last 

but not least, an easy life, free from worries, to enter an existence full of a thousand 

dangers on water and on land. All this they endured so they could, in the New World, in a 

wilderness, among wild and inhuman people, among disgusting vermin and cruel beasts, 

live well and gather wealth for others! To judge, to speak, or to write in such a way is not 

just average stupidity. It is rather to brand as the world's biggest fools a number of 

intelligent men, of whom it is said and written that they are not lacking in knowledge and 

reason. In respect to "gathering wealth for others," Father Daniel has already said, a short 

time ago, that since 
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the beginning of the world, no one has ever heard of a band of thieves or robbers in which 

any of the group chose to live alone in the forests in constant danger of being broken on 

javascript://


the wheel, so that the rest of the band might live in the city, well and at ease, and become 

wealthy from loot. 

To tell the truth, for eight years I also had four to five hundred head of cattle and as many 

sheep and goats running around in California, until the thieving of the Indians from my 

own and another mission forced me to do away with them. For several years I had a small 

field of sugar cane in front of my house, until the Indians again went too far and pulled up 

nearly all of it before it was ripe. In six or seven years I gathered several thousand bushels 

of grain—corn and wheat—from the six or seven small pieces of land which I had caused 

to be planted here and there. Yet most of the time I had no bread in my house. And when 

I wished to honor a guest, I had to request a fowl from one of my soldiers—who kept a 

few chickens on his own corn rations—while I saved my wheat and corn for needy Indians. 

In my kitchen I also used suet, even on days of fasting, because I had no butter. In many 

years I hardly tasted meat other than that of lean bulls, which were killed every fourteen 

days. I never had veal. I seldom saw my roasting spit on the table, although more than 

once I saw maggots there. Finally, not to mention many other things, I often found myself 

forced to give up the evening meal entirely because I had nothing I cared to eat. For 

several years I fasted for forty days on dry vegetables and salted fish five or six times 

within twelve months. To let the fish swim in their element, my drink was precious, 

although not always the freshest, water. 

Several times I could have changed my post and gone to another place where, I am sure, I 

would have found better food and many other things I did not have, but it was not very 

hard for me to resist the temptation. In California the missionary has small regard for 

temporal goods or personal advantages. 

Now is the time to answer the third question in Part Three, chapter four, as I have 

promised to do. How then was it possible, in a poor land like California, to acquire such 

beautiful and rich church ornaments? Answer: It was possible to acquire them: first, from 

the thousand florins or more per year which represented the income from the endowed 

estates to each mission; second, from the sale of wheat and corn, wine and 
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brandy (the latter was distilled from wine which was about to turn to vinegar), sugar, 

dried figs and grapes, cotton, meat, candles, soap, fat, leather, horses, and mules, all being 

products grown or made at the missions. These exceeded what the missionary needed for 

the support of the mission, and were sold to the soldiers, sailors, and miners. These sales 

could hardly have been refused, especially in cases of necessity, when crops had failed 



outside of California. Furthermore, whatever was of no value to the Indians was sold. 

Finally, everything a missionary could have but did not use for his own person, that is to 

say, what he denied himself, was also sold. Soldiers and other people often drank wine 

which the missionary could have enjoyed himself without drinking to excess. A good deal 

of this income was used to supply the Indians with clothes and provisions which they 

lacked and which had to be purchased. With the remainder the above-mentioned costly 

church ornaments were acquired little by little. 

If anyone wishes to find fault with such expenditures or wishes to raise his voice against 

them—like the traitor Judas against the extravagance of Magdalene (John XII)—as 

someone has done in the Spanish language, although not about the California missions 

but about the churches of a certain religious order in general, and if he be a Christian, a 

Catholic Christian, I refer him to the words in Psalm XXV: "Domine, dilexi decorem domus 

tuæ." (Lord, I have striven for the beauty and adornment of thy house.) I wish also to 

advise him to look homeward concerning extravagance, and to criticize the silver dishes, 

tapestries, and the like found nowadays in private homes before he censures the 

ornaments in the houses of the Lord. 

Leave to the Lutherans and Calvinists—until God will convert them—their austere altars, 

their bare walls and empty barns, and let us beautify our churches as true houses of God, 

as best we can. Those who do not care to contribute should leave other people who desire 

to do so unmolested. 

It was impossible to use all the revenue from animal breeding or agriculture for the 

benefit of the Indians. They were poor, so poor that their poverty could not be greater, 

but their poverty is of a different nature and character from that prevalent among so 

many people in Europe. An Indian cannot be helped by paying his debts or by releasing 

him from prison, by giving money to a girl so that she might enter a con- 
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vent or be married. It is not necessary to pay their rent or buy their freedom from 

servitude, pay their doctor or apothecary bill. For the California Indian, everything centers 

on food and clothing. With these two necessities the missions were well provided through 

agriculture and livestock breeding. They could, considering the standards of the native, 

give them all the help they needed. There was no other use for the surplus than to adorn 

the churches, to make the service of the Lord impressive and dignified, and to console the 

servants of the Church through the greater honor of their God and through the edification 

of their fellow men. 



Finally, because I have spoken several times of "bread" in this little work, I must make it 

clear to the reader that I did not speak of bread made of wheat or corn flour, but of little 

pancakes made of corn meal. The corn is lightly boiled, then ground by hand between two 

stones. The meal is formed into thin, flat, little cakes, made warm over a hot iron plate. 

These pancakes are eaten by all the people in all America, and are served like warm bread 

with meat and other foods. I found them a healthful food and very pleasing to the taste 

after having eaten them for several weeks. 

Chapter Seven— 

Of the Soldiers, Sailors, Craftsmen, as well as of Buying and Selling in California 

The entire Second Part of these reports dealt with the black-brown natives of the 

California peninsula, and in the First Part all that is essential about a handful of silver 

miners has been told. What remains is to report about some other white men who are 

living in California. 

It would be foolhardy to go and preach the Gospel to these half- 
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human Americans without taking along a bodyguard. It would even be daring to live 

without protection among those already baptized, because of their vacillating and 

changeable character. The only thing a missionary without protection could expect to find 

among these people is an untimely death and the loss of the expense of such a long 

journey. For this reason, the Catholic Kings have recently issued a decree forbidding a 

missionary to venture among these heathen without sufficient escort of armed guards. In 

all the new missions one or more soldiers have to be maintained at the expense of the 

king. Therefore Father Salvatierra supported as many soldiers as were deemed necessary 

to keep the newly converted natives and the neighboring heathen in check and to put 

down possible revolts; or, to state it correctly, he maintained as many soldiers as the alms 

he received permitted. This situation lasted until 1716, when for the first time the soldiers 

received their pay from the King of Spain. At that time there were twenty-five of them. 

However, owing to the serious revolts which broke out at different places, particularly in 

the southern part of California, and after two missionaries had been killed by the Pericúes, 

the number of soldiers, including the officers, was finally increased by royal order to sixty 

men. 



These men are not regular soldiers. They know nothing of military exercises; they ask for 

and receive their discharge whenever they desire it. They are in every respect 

inexperienced, ignorant, and clumsy fellows born in America of Spanish parents.[*] 

Their officers are a captain, a lieutenant, a sergeant, and an ensign. Their weapons are a 

sword, a musket, a shield, and an armor of four layers of tanned, white deerskin, which 

covers the entire body like a sleeveless coat. Otherwise they wear whatever they like; they 

have no uniforms. They serve on horseback or on mule, and because of the rugged trails, 

each man is obliged to keep five mounts. The soldiers have to buy these animals as well as 

their weapons, clothing, ammunition, and all their food. Their annual pay amounts to 

eight hundred and fifty guilders. 

Their duties are these: to serve the missionary as a bodyguard, to 
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accompany him on all his travels, to keep watch during the night, to keep an eye on the 

Indians, and if a crime is committed, to carry out the punishment. They take turns riding 

out every day to see that their or the missionary's horses do not stray, for these animals 

roam freely in the field. And finally, the soldiers have to obey the missionary in everything 

which concerns good discipline and the affairs of the mission. Such were the wise and 

beneficial orders issued by the Catholic Kings, Philip V and Ferdinand VI. These orders 

keep the soldiers from roving through the land at will, using the Indians and their wives for 

pearl fishing and for other work, or abusing them in any other way. 

A certain Viceroy of Mexico[33] changed these provisions, but after a short time of 

confusion, he found himself compelled to reestablish the old order. 

To increase the dependence of the soldiers and to make sure of their obedience to the 

missionary in matters mentioned before, the two kings also authorized the missionary to 

send all those who misbehaved and were more troublesome than useful back to their 

captain in Loreto without giving them any previous warning. It was also ordered that the 

soldiers were to receive their pay from the head of the missions or his representative at 

the place. All these precautions were not adequate, however, to keep such people within 

the limits of decent behavior. In the course of only a few years, I had to send at least two 

dozen of these men back to Loreto, though as a rule there were only three or four soldiers 

stationed at my mission. Yet these regulations were better than having none at all. 

Imagine what would happen if these soldiers possessed complete freedom at the missions 
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and were permitted to do or go where they pleased or to visit anyone anywhere and at 

any time! 

The same arrangement regarding the pay of the soldiers also applied to the sailors, of 

whom there were only about twenty. Every year in April these men sailed from California 

to Matanchel in two small sloops (these and three of four rowboats made up the entire 

California navy). They brought back Mexican goods and wood, so that the cabinet-makers 

and carpenters could repair the ships. Several times a year the ships went across the gulf 

to Sinaloa. They returned with Indian corn, dried vegetables, and also meat, fat, horses, 

and mules. 

Once a year the royal officials in Mexico delivered the full sum for the payment of the 

sailors and soldiers to the Father-Administrator who 
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managed all the foundation estates of the missions. Of course a few thousand pesos were 

always deducted. They remained glued to the fingers of the officials as a "present." The 

administrator did not send this money to California, and neither soldier nor sailor ever 

received any silver. It would be of no use to him, since there were no bakers, butchers, 

innkeepers, or merchants in California from whom he could have bought any necessities. 

The Father-Administrator, therefore, purchased with this pay everything, excluding food, 

which approximately eighty men and a number of wives and their children might need in 

the course of a year. He sent these commodities, together with the articles requested by 

each missionary (for his thousand guilders), to Loreto. 

Another administrator resided in Loreto. He received all the goods sent from Mexico. 

During the year the soldiers and sailors were given on account whatever they requested 

within the limit of the amount of their salary. The administrator of Loreto was also obliged 

to report annually, under oath, to the Viceroy, stating that the number of soldiers was 

complete and that they had been duly paid. If one of them received his discharge and left, 

he was given linen or other goods for the amount of pay still due him. 

Each commodity, such as cloth, linen, tobacco, sugar, soap, meat, chocolate, Indian corn, 

horses, and so on, had its set price according to a tariff fixed by royal officials. These prices 

were the same at all stations where the soldiers bought their supplies from the captain, 

whether it was in California or any place outside the peninsula. As a rule, this tariff set the 

prices at double what the goods sold for in Mexico, so that an article which cost one or 

two pesos in Mexico would sell for two or four in California. Once fixed, the prices of the 



tariff remained in force for all times, even if the purchasing price of a commodity, because 

of war or other circumstances, was higher in Mexico than the sale price in California. 

Thus a few years ago, when the price of smoking tobacco was suddenly increased from 

five to thirteen reales in Mexico (because of the granting of a trade monopoly—the cause 

of many different rebellions in America), this commodity nevertheless had to be sold to 

the soldiers and sailors in California at the customary price of ten reales. 

Everything was strictly accounted for. The administrator's office was periodically inspected 

by royal officials. Any surplus was used for the 
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repair of ships or the building of new ones, to cover unusual expenses owing to new 

activities on land or water. At times it was also used for the support of the soldiers when 

the royal treasurer in Mexico did not make any payments, as happened during my time. 

Aside from the soldiers and the few sailors, the other residents found in California (in 

Loreto, to be exact) were two so-called carpenters, two so-called cabinetmakers, and as 

many blacksmiths. At times another cabinetmaker of this type, carrying all his iron tools in 

his trouser pockets, roamed the country, trying to earn a little at the missions if there was 

no lack of wood. Except for these, there were no other craftsmen. As a rule, everyone was 

his own shoemaker, tailor, plasterer, harness maker, miller, baker, barber, apothecary, 

and physician. Up to this time nobody had the idea of inviting wig and card makers, 

fashion tailors, confectioners, pastry and Parisian cooks, lace merchants, coffeehouse 

keepers, rope dancers, and comedians to California. So long as California will exist, such 

people will get there much too soon. How many things can I do without, said the 

philosopher! 

There is no money in circulation in California, and no silver in the land, except for the little 

which the miners dig out and that in the churches. Nothing is imported into California but 

horses and mules, dried vegetables and corn, fats, wood, and the annual pay for the 

soldiers and missionaries. And this last, as has been explained above, consisted only of 

goods. Nothing left the country except a few awms of wine for the missions of Sinaloa and 

Sonora, some deerskins sent by the soldiers, and some cotton and linen goods originally 

imported from Mexico. These things were used in the purchase, or to speak more 

correctly, the barter for the above-mentioned horses and victuals. This may convey an 

idea of the extent of trade between California and other nations. 



Commerce on the peninsula was equally limited. Whatever a missionary advanced to his 

bodyguard in the form of provisions or other goods was refunded to him by the chief 

administrator in Loreto—and always in the form of provisions and clothing or other 

necessities for the Indians. Wine and fruit sent to Loreto by the missionaries for the use of 

the soldiers was paid for in the same manner. Sometimes the missionary would receive 

from the administrator in Loreto a draft for services rendered, payable by the chief 

administrator in Mexico. This 
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draft would be honored the following year, not by cash payment, but in goods requested 

by the missionary for his church or his Indians. 

Trading with the miners was on a different basis. They paid for their purchases in plain, 

uncoined silver, for they had nothing else. When short of silver, they bought on credit 

until they were rich again. Most of the silver vessels in the churches were made from such 

silver. 

The missionaries understood one another's problems, and so long as one had something, 

he always gave brotherly help to the one who had nothing. This help was extended not 

only to the missionaries, but also to the Californians. I often experienced this, and I want 

to report it here in order once more to show my deep gratitude, particularly to Father 

Lambert Hostel,[34] from the Duchy of Jülich, and Father Franz Ináma,[35] from Vienna, 

Austria. 

Chapter Eight— 

Of the Death of the Two Jesuit Fathers, Támaral and Carranco 

Among people like the California Indians, and in a land like theirs, not many significant 

events occur which deserve to be recorded and made known to posterity. But God creates 

miracles wherever and whenever it pleases Him. Notwithstanding the small number of 

missionaries, it has been deemed wise to make known to the world some of those whose 

virtues deserve to be revealed. Even during these last years, there were those who 

abstained from wine, although they had the best that was grown in California, who rarely 

took off their cilicium and slept every night on the bare floor or on the altar steps, or those 

who for days and nights tended the sick in uncomfortable sick-houses, depriving 

themselves of their only bed and offering it to a sick person. Some even had 
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scruples about acquiring the necessary clothing and food for themselves for fear they 

might thereby deprive the poor Californians. Others, who never had a kitchen of their 

own, ate as their chief meal a thin piece of bone-dry meat warmed a little in the 

community copper kettle used for preparing Indian corn for the Indians. 

Among the Indians there were also some who, after their conversion, led an edifying life, 

although those giving a bad example were much more numerous, nearly excluding the 

good. It could well be said of them, "Beatur vir, qui inventus este sine macula." (Blessed is 

he who lives among them without acquiring coarse vices and committing crimes.) Where 

is such a one that we may praise him? Together with their other vices, the Indians show 

lust for revenge and cruelty. Human life means little to them and they will kill for 

insignificant reasons, as during my time several persons, including the master of a small 

boat, had to learn. Because of a severe tongue lashing which this master had addressed to 

the natives, his skull was crushed with a heavy stone when he was eating his evening meal 

on land. Then, his little boat, loaded with provisions for two poor missions, was set adrift. 

One boy about sixteen years old was stabbed in the abdomen and hit over the head with a 

heavy club by another boy of about the same age. This premeditated and treacherous 

attack occurred at two o'clock in the afternoon on Ascension Day of the the year 1760, in 

full view of the whole community, and only a stone's throw from the church and the 

missionary's house. The murderer hoped to escape on a horse he had previously selected, 

and to find refuge in a church thirty hours away. He almost succeeded. 

Up to 1750 many uprisings occurred in different parts of the country. Several missionaries 

were forced to abandon their missions at one time or another and find safety elsewhere. 

One cause of these revolts was the decline of the power and prestige of the sorcerers and 

conjurers, another that the natives were admonished to fulfill their promises made at the 

time of their baptism. 

The greatest and most dangerous revolt occurred in the southernmost part of the 

peninsula and began in 1733 among the tribes called the Pericúes and the Córas. Both 

have a very proud and unruly nature, even to this day, as their last missionary, Ignatz Tirs, 

has experienced. In this year of 1733, four missions comprising several thousand Indians, 

three priests, and not more than six soldiers were established in that territory. 
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The missions were La Paz, or "Peace," with one soldier but no missionary in residence; 

Santa Rosa, with Father Sigismundo Táraval,[36] a Spaniard, but born in Italy, and three 

soldiers; Santiago with its missionary, Father Lorenzo Carranco,[37] a Mexican of Spanish 

parentage; and San José del Cabo, with just its missionary, Father Nicolás Támaral,[38] a 

Spaniard from Seville. 

The causes of the uprising were, in part, as many Indians afterwards confessed without 

shyness, the unwillingness of the recently converted Californians to be married to only 

one woman, as was their obligation and as they had promised, and in part the dislike of 

being verbally reprimanded by the missionaries for transgressions they had committed. 

The principal instigators and leaders who had secretly and quietly stirred up the people 

were named Boton and Chicóri. Their aim was to kill the three priests and to obliterate all 

signs and marks of Christianity, which the large majority of the natives had accepted ten 

years before. Thus they could return to a life of freedom and license without fear of 

opposition. The plot, however, was discovered before the fire burst forth into a blaze. To 

all appearances, it was smothered at the beginning of 1734 by a simulated peace offer on 

the part of the Indians. This peace, however, did not last long, for it lacked sincerity. 

Within a short time, the perjured rebel leaders tried anew to realize their aim at all costs; 

they carried out their plans the following October. Again they did not succeed completely, 

for Father Táraval found means to escape their hands. 

The only obstacle which stood in their way was the force of six soldiers. When in October 

the natives found one of them of Mission Santa Rosa alone in the field, they treacherously 

murdered him. Then they sent a message to the mission, stating that the soldier was very 

ill and that either the priest should come and hear the sick man's confession or he should 

send the two remaining soldiers to carry their sick comrade back to the mission. Their 

intention was, of course, to murder the Father or the two others in the same manner. The 

messenger, however, executed his commission so badly that it was easy to guess what 

had already happened and what the rebels intended to do next. Consequently, neither the 

priest nor the soldiers did what was asked of them. A few days later the lone soldier who 

guarded Mission La Paz lost his life. 

The news of the two murders and of further indubitable signs of an 
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approaching mutiny and general uprising in the south spread and soon reached the ears of 

the prefect of all the missions, who was at that time at Mission Siete Dolores, almost 
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ninety hours away. Immediately he sent orders to the three priests whose lives were in 

danger: they should save themselves as best they could. The letters, however, fell into the 

hands of the rebels; but even if they had reached their destination, they would have 

arrived too late. 

The conspirators planned to deliver the first blow against Mission San José del Cabo and 

Father Támaral, but they discovered that Father Carranco had already heard of their 

intentions. They quickly decided to turn against him and Mission Santiago before the 

priest would be able to escape or take precautionary measures. On a Saturday, the second 

of October, the rebels arrived there. The Father had just read the Holy Mass and retired to 

his room in order to finish his prayers without interruption. Unluckily his bodyguard of two 

men had left on horseback to fetch some cattle for the catechumen and other Indians. 

Soon after, the messengers who had just returned from San José del Cabo and Father 

Támaral, to whom they had carried the news of the revolt, entered the room. Father 

Carranco was just reading Father Támaral's reply to his message when the murderers 

rushed into the house and attacked him. Some of them threw him to the floor, they 

dragged him by the feet toward the entrance of the church, revealing thereby the reason 

for the revolt and subsequent manslaughter. Before they reached the church, however, 

Father Carranco's soul had been driven from his body, for some savages had pierced him 

with arrows, and others had hit him with stones and clubs. 

Not very far away stood an innocent little California boy who used to serve the Father at 

table. When the monsters realized that the child wept for the man who had treated him 

like a father, one of the murderers grabbed him by his feet and smashed his head against 

the wall, shouting that, since he felt so much compassion, he should also serve him in the 

future and keep him company in the other world. As is customary with barbarians, there 

were some among the assassins whom the padre had considered his most loyal followers 

and in whom he had placed all his trust. After the murder, they tore his clothes from the 

body, and horribly abused the soulless corpse. Having satisfied their barbaric instincts, 

they threw the body on a burning pyre. Then they set 

 

― 154 ― 

fire to the church and house, and burned everything they disliked—sacred as well as other 

vessels, the altar pictures of our Saviour and of the saints, all were reduced to ashes. 

Meanwhile those who had gone to bring back the cattle and the two unarmed soldiers 

returned. They were forced to dismount and slaughter the cows for the criminals, 

whereupon they were rewarded with a shower of arrows. 



On the following day, Father Támaral met the same fortunate fate of martyrdom as Father 

Carranco at Mission San José del Cabo, twelve hours distant from Santiago. As soon as the 

criminals had cooled their wrath, which was directed more against the Christian religion 

than against its preachers, they marched from the one mission to the other. Father 

Támaral was in his house—untroubled, for he did not believe the warning of his 

neighbor—when the savage army, augmented by new recruits from among Father 

Támaral's own parishioners, appeared at the mission. As was customary, they demanded 

something or other (I do not know what) of the Father, with the intention of starting a 

quarrel should he deny the request. But from their gestures and the weapons they 

carried, the Father immediately guessed their true intentions. Therefore, he granted their 

requests and gave them even more than they had asked. The failure of their plan enraged 

them to such a degree that they put aside all shame and pretense. Without further delay, 

they seized the Father, threw him to the floor, dragged him under the open sky, and 

began to shoot arrows at him. One of them (who had just recently received a big knife as a 

present from the Father) added ingratitude to cruelty by mercilessly thrusting this same 

knife through the Father's body. Thus, after having spent many years in California, the 

two, Father Támaral and Father Carranco, ended their lives, slaughtered by their own 

sheep, after having proved themselves worthy of such an end by their blameless conduct 

and their great devotion. 

The natives' savagery and lust for destruction of the priests, the church, and everything 

else went much farther and lasted longer in this place than at Santiago because the 

number of murderers and rebels was greater and because this was the second victory 

they had achieved. 

One more priest was to be destroyed—the third and last one—but he escaped their 

hands. Father Sigismundo Táraval, missionary at Santa Rosa, was at that time in Todos 

Santos, an annex to his mission, on the 
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western shore of California and a two-day journey from San José. Through some Indians, 

he received the news of all that had happened just in time. Whether these natives 

informed him out of a natural love and sympathy for their pastor or whether not all of 

them had a part in the conspiracy, I do not know. He hurriedly packed a few necessary 

things, and on the night of October fourth, he and his two soldiers rode on horseback 

across the country to the other shore. Near Mission La Paz he embarked on the small craft 

which had been sent there as soon as the first rumors of the impending rebellion had 



been circulated. With God's help he luckily arrived at Siete Dolores, which at that time was 

built along the sea. He left behind four missions which had been completely destroyed 

and leveled to the ground in less than four days. Later, it cost much effort, blood, and 

many people to rebuild them and make them flourish again. 

The rebels did not fare well and were not allowed much time in which to glory in the 

crimes they had committed. God and man made them pay dearly. These southern tribes, 

which numbered about four thousand souls at the beginning of the revolt, were finally 

reduced to four hundred. Wars fought against them by the California and foreign soldiers, 

internal dissension among the tribes themselves, and above all, ugly diseases and 

epidemics reduced them to this number. Even among these four hundred, there are today 

very few who are free from this general disease and who can boast of possessing a 

healthy body. 

On the other hand, let us give a thousand thanks to God's kindness which has never failed 

to give to individuals among the Catholic priests, and particularly to members of the 

Society of Jesus, even in these days, the heart and courage to spread the Christian Faith 

without thinking of personal gain. These men expose themselves to deadly dangers 

among all kinds of barbarians and are willing to shed their blood when the opportunity for 

such a sacrifice arrives. These two California missionaries are by no means the only 

members of this Society who in this century have lost their lives while preaching the 

Gospel and converting the heathen.[39] Besides others whom I could name by the dozen, 

there were in 1751 two missionaries who lost their lives among the rebellious Pimas on 

the east coast of the California gulf. They were Father P. Tomás Tello,[40] a Spaniard, and 

Father Heinrich Ruhen,[41] a German Jesuit from Westphalia. The previous year (1750) I 

had traveled with the 
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latter across the ocean to America, and again on land to Pimería only six months before 

his death. 

Chapter Nine— 

Some Questions Directed to Protestants and Particularly to Protestant Ministers 

Although I am writing a report and not a controversy, I may be permitted to interrupt my 

narrative and address myself to the gentlemen of the Protestant faith (it may happen that 

this small volume will get into their hands). In connection with the two California martyrs 

whose fate was described in the preceding chapter, I should like to ask some questions of 
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the Protestants, and particularly of their ministers, concerning the lack of zeal these 

gentlemen show in converting heathen. Such conversions are, however, characteristic of 

the True Church of the New Testament, which does not say: "In viam gentium ne abieritis" 

(Do not set your feet into idolatrous provinces and lands), but on the contrary: "Go into 

the world and preach the word of God to all men." The Holy Scripture frequently and 

emphatically demands of Christian preachers to seek converts. This work of conversion 

must be carried on in order to conform with the many prophecies. The neglect of 

missionary work on the part of the Protestants must be due either to prejudice on the 

part of all non-Catholic sects, or it must prove the truth of the Roman Catholic religion. 

The Protestants have the best opportunity of carrying out the work of converting 

nonbelievers in both the West and the East Indies, for there, as everyone knows, their 

trade and power is very great. It would be much easier for them and they would be more 

successful than the 
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Catholics, for they have nothing else to preach to the pagans but their doctrine of faith. 

They would permit the natives, in the spirit of Luther, to practice their wickedness 

thousands of times a day; they would allow them to kill, and yet throw the gates of 

Heaven wide open for them, thanks to faith alone.[*] This doctrine (especially if fortified by 

miracles of men like Xavier, Ludovico, Bertrando, Anchieta, and others) should not fail to 

win millions of proselytes a day for the Protestant preachers. The Catholic clergy, on the 

other hand, has to preach St. Paul, the Holy Scripture, early Christanity, and venerable 

antiquity to the heathen, as well as Faith, the observance of the Ten Commandments, and 

the necessity of good works. The Catholic priests did not make the desired progress 

among the idolatrous in the Orient and in America, especially at the beginning of their 

missions. There are not so many good Christians as there are baptized natives. 

Nevertheless, I have not heard or read anything up to now about Protestant missions or 

missionaries in the East or West Indies.[**] 

For a long time Catholic circles have been waiting for the first volume of edifying letters 

from Protestant missionaries, or for a martyrology of Lutheran and Calvinistic preachers 

who became martyrs in India. However, so far no one knows or can guess when one or the 

other volume will go to the press or see the light of day. Yet, on the Catholic side, more 

than thirty volumes of edifying letters have already been published by the Jesuits alone, 

although this collection was not started until toward the beginning of this century and 

contains less than a third of the total letters. In their book of martyrs, almost a thousand 
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blood-witnesses can be counted. Yet this order is not so old as Protestantism, and there 

are perhaps a hundred Protestant preachers to one Jesuit priest. This does not include all 

those whom Luther considers ministers and bishops and, therefore, as 
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preachers too. All these, as he writes, have been baptized, including the Devil himself and 

his mother.[*] 

Therefore, with their permission, I ask these Protestant gentlemen: 

First : If the Apostles had remained in their fatherland, sitting at home behind the stove, 

where would the world and especially our Germany be today? And since the Apostles 

could neither live forever nor go to every part of the world, they alone could not convert 

all the heathen, and the growth of the Christian church was thereby limited. But under the 

guidance and foresight of God, who watches over His Church, the Apostles left successors 

who would always follow in their footsteps and carry on their work of conversion in 

accordance with Psalm XLIV: "Pro patribus tuis nati sunt tibi filii." Now where in the 

Protestant church are such apostolic twigs, such successors of the first Fathers of the 

Church, who, like the Apostles, would zealously dedicate themselves to the conversion of 

idolaters and to the growth of the kingdom of Christ? When will one be able to say of the 

theologians of Wittenberg and Geneva: Their call went out into the world and they have 

been heard in all the corners of the earth preaching the Gospel to the pagans. (Psalm 

XVIII.) Daily preachers are born to take the place of Luther and Calvin, but none to convert 

the heathen; Luther and Calvin were not missionaries either. 

Second : I ask, does the definite command of Christ, "Go ye into all the world and preach 

the Gospel to every creature" (Mark XVI), include the Protestant preachers, or does it not? 

If it does, why do they not obey, and why do they wish to remain idle spectators of the 

Catholics, resembling those who buried their talent of silver or those found by the Father 

to be idling in the market place? On the other hand, if Christ's command has no meaning 

for them, then they cannot be counted among successors of the Apostles, but only as 

followers and partisans of Luther and Calvin. That the aforementioned command of Christ 

does not really concern them seems to be proved, partly by their behavior and their own 

secret admission, partly by the fact that Christ would endow them with spirit and courage 

to fulfill this command as he did His Apostles and others. In more than two hundred years, 

as experience has shown, this has not come 
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to pass; for whatever task God chooses a man, He will give him the means, talents, and 

strength needed to accomplish it. 

Third : I shall not speak of the hundred other prophecies concerning the conversion of 

heathens. (They would all have to be false if it depended upon Protestants and those who 

ever separated from the Roman Church.) But, may I ask, what of the particular prophecy 

of Christ in Matthew XXIV that, before the end of the world arrives, the Gospel shall be 

preached everywhere and to all nations?[*] It is certain that if, on the one hand, the 

Protestants have the only true Gospel and religion in their possession, and on the other 

hand, their preachers will not do better in the future than they have done in the past two 

and a half centuries in preaching the Gospel among the heathen, then the Judgment Day 

will never dawn. They want no part in the work of converting heathen and, to all 

appearances, will do even less of it in the future. Among them, indifference and tolerance 

for all religions and superstitions are increasing from day to day, including theism and 

atheism. These deformities, which originated among the Protestants, are nothing but 

"mali corvi malum ovum," that is, evil fruit from an evil tree. Of course these gentlemen 

know quite well how to scatter their seed on the already plowed and seeded field of the 

Catholic Church, by sowing weeds among the wheat. They catch the fish which are near to 

the shore and swim voluntarily into their net because it is not tight. Yet they eagerly avoid 

sailing on the high, raging sea of idolatry, or clearing a forest of heathen in Canada, China, 

Japan, Malabaria (India), or in the land of the Caffres. For such work they have neither 

courage nor imagination.[**] 

Fourth : I am asking you what do you think of Christ's saying in Luke XI: "Qui non est 

mecum, contra me est, et qui non colligit mecum, dispergit," that is: he who is not with 

Christ is against Him, and he who does not help Him to gather, scatters and destroys? The 

Protestant gentlemen, their clergy as well as their worldly authorities, truly do not 
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help Christ to bring all the pagans into the fold of the Church. They let the good shepherd 

sweat and run, but they themselves do not lift a foot to lead the erring sheep on the right 

path and to unite them under the shepherd's staff of Christ. Their pilots and seamen have 

been trying to find a northern route to the Orient for almost two hundred years, so that 

their merchant ships may reach Japan and China in less time; but their preachers do not 

search for any ways to penetrate into Abyssinia, Tibet, the Great and Lesser Tartary, there 

to enlighten age-old heretics or to baptize idolaters or other unbelievers. What conclusion 
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may be drawn from that? As was said before, and as Christ Himself has said, the 

Protestants are not for Christ; therefore they are against Him. In no way do they help to 

gather the heathen into His Church; they disperse, destroy, and lay waste. The results of 

their so-called Reformation in the sixteenth century, and from 1517 until now, were 

nothing but dissension, destruction, and devastation in the sheepfold of Christ and in the 

field of the Church of God. 

Fifth : Good merchandise can be sent into every part of the world; it will find buyers 

everywhere. The old philosophic-theological proverb says: "Bonum est communicativum 

sui." Why then, if their religion is so evangelical and good, do the Protestants not seek to 

introduce it into all parts of the world and bring the light of Faith to so many nations who 

live in darkness and in the shadow of death? Why do the Dutch not only omit preaching 

the Heidelberg catechism or the canons of their Dordrecht synod in Japan, where they 

monopolize all trade, but eagerly conceal their Calvinistic religion before the Japanese? 

They deny their religion; they do not wish to be known as Christians, but solely as 

Dutchmen. The image of Him, whom they consider their God and Saviour, they even 

trample underfoot. How shameful! Never has any greed and avarice brought any Roman 

Catholic nation to this! Before the rise of the two new evangelists of Wittenberg and 

Geneva, no one would ever have believed it possible that a Christian nation could go so 

far. This brings no honor to the Calvinistic (or as they wish to call it, Reformed) religion or 

its adherents, but should rather cause them to doubt the quality and truth of this sect 

which leads the subjects of a great state to commit such a fantastic, un-Christian, and 

blasphemous deed. The English and the Dutch (in particular the latter) trade in all things in 

all the corners of the globe, and they will do anything for 
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a profit.[*] Should even Satan himself have a shipment to any of the four continents, he 

surely would find much courtesy in Amsterdam and soon have a ship ready to sail at his 

service. The one thing they do not wish to export and bring to the market, however, is 

their religion, for which they rebelled and led wars against the Spanish kings for a long 

time. It is certain that all the preachers in Holland have as little desire as Satan himself to 

convert one single pagan to Calvinism, or to lead him to Heaven. 

Sixth : If Protestant preachers fear misfortune and death, and perhaps for this reason lack 

courage and do not dare to venture among foreign nations and barbarians, why then do 

they not show any concern for the eternal salvation of their colonial slaves in America and 
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the Negro slaves from Guinea and elsewhere? Surely from them they have nothing to fear. 

Why do they let them perish like dogs[**] 

If those preachers of the Augsburg and Geneva Confession are kept at home by their 

wives and children, if family and house prevent these gentlemen from a voyage to the 

pagan kingdoms in the East or West, why do they grumble about the Catholic Church and 

curse her so mightily because she demands celibacy of all those who voluntarily enter her 

priesthood? Why does their church not wish to remember St. Paul's saying (I Corinthians 

VII): "I have no command from the Lord as to chastity, but I do advise it"; nor Christ's 

utterance (Matthew XIX: "Whosoever forsakes his house or field in my name . . . ?" Both 

celibacy and voluntary poverty, though not indispensable, are of service in promoting the 

conversion of pagans in far distant lands according to the will and command of the Lord. 

Two big obstacles are thereby removed. The Protestant preacher, however, speaks, as in 

Luke XIV: "I took a wife, or wish to take 
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one, I have a house, etc., and it is full of children; therefore I cannot . . . " 

Hence among the Roman Catholic clergy, Christ has His helpers and the Apostles have 

their faithful successors, in the persons of the missionaries, dedicated to the conversion of 

heathen. To teach and baptize the unbelievers, the missionaries travel throughout the 

world, penetrating into regions where no profit-hungry merchant nor daring pioneer has 

ever been before. They work and sweat with Christ for the salvation of souls; they want to 

see their Faith spread into all the corners of the world and make Christians of all men, no 

matter who they might be. Some they instruct and baptize, others they prepare for 

Heaven; they preach the kingdom of God to those who are nothing to them, from whom 

they get nothing, and from whom they can expect nothing but death and martyrdom. For 

the sake of this work, they leave their homeland and, with it, everything, to sail over the 

seas. Like St. Paul, they fear no dangers, but suffer shipwreck, hunger, and thirst, and 

dwell in deserts, exposed to ugly vermin. They live among wild beasts and such human 

beings as are only distinguishable from beasts by their bodies. They risk their lives a 

hundred times, and spill their blood in a hundred different ways. Meanwhile, the 

Protestant lip servant puts his hands in his pockets and watches indifferently the horrors 

of idolatry in so many lands. He lets millions of black and white pagans perish and end in 

Hell, not in the least bothering or thinking of coming to their aid, in spite of God's explicit 

command to help them and save them from eternal damnation. 
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Now I beseech the modest and truth-loving Protestant reader to lay aside all prejudices 

and, in honor of God, draw his own conclusions and tell me in all sincerity: Where and on 

which side is the love of neighbor, the true mark of the disciple of Christ? On which side, 

pray, the Catholic or the Protestant, is the spirit of the True Church? Compared with the 

stand taken by the Protestant preachers in religious zeal and missionary work, does not 

the attitude of the Catholic clergy appear to be a good test for Catholic priests and the 

truth of their religion, as against Protestants and the falsehood of their sect? The Church 

which has the spirit of Christ and of the Apostles can certainly not be the Church of the 

anti-Christ. 

I hope nobody will seriously challenge me by mentioning the one and a half Danish 

missionaries in Tranquebar,[42] a Royal Danish town in 

 

― 163 ― 

East India. Within this city, the missionaries conceived the idea of converting the few 

pagan subjects of his Danish Majesty to a pietistically transformed Lutheranism. Nor 

should I be challenged in mentioning either a certain Dr. Dellius[43] of New England, who, 

accompanied by a little Iroquois woman, tried with little success to convert the Iroquois 

Indians to the English Church, or a few other Protestant would-be converters of this same 

caliber. Mr. Weislinger[44] has already exposed the pietistic Mr. Ziegenbalg[45] and his 

helpers in Tranquebar (and possibly others like them) in the second part of his work 

"Theological Charlatans"; likewise, Father Charlevoix has given a description of the mission 

of the Englishman Dellius in his "History of Canada."[*] 
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It is and remains irrefutably true that the Protestants of today follow zealously all those 

who, since the beginning of Christianity, have deserted the Roman Church, and, as 

everyone knows, have made poor efforts in bringing the pagans to their side, thus making 

their church in universal conformity with the ninth article of their faith. Luther and Calvin, 

who probably never thought of the pagans, must have foreseen this, for they eliminated 

the title "universal," which the Apostles and the first council at Nicaea in 325 had given to 

the Church, and which is one of the insigniæ of the True Church. As a substitute, they 

adopted the word "Christian," which is as meaningless and as superfluous in this case as a 

fifth wheel on a wagon. How can a Church not be Christian when, 
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according to the second article, it believes in Christ and is holy? 

Finally, I beg of the non-Catholic as well as the Catholic reader not to take amiss this 

prolonged digression, which he probably considers superfluous to this book. All this has 

been written by a well-meaning heart, following the advice of St. Paul to Titus: "Insta 

opportune, importune": Speak to them whether the time is opportune or inopportune. 

Not every day do I have an opportunity, oral or written, of offering a good thought to the 

Protestant gentlemen. I wanted to seize this opportunity the more so because I know that 

the character of the mission work of the Roman Catholic clergy among the heathen has 

induced more than one Protestant to take his leave of Protestantism and return to the 

fold of the Catholic Church, which his ancestors so unwisely had deserted. How happy 

would I esteem myself if, with my few remarks, I had the good fortune to cause the 

imperative return of one or the other of these gentlemen. 

Chapter Ten— 

Of the Arrival of Don Gaspar Portolá and the Departure of the Jesuits from California 

The fate which befell the Jesuits in Spain[47] was inevitably shared by those in America, and 

consequently by those in California. From a purely material point of view, no greater favor 

could have been done for them or for many other missionaries than to get them out of 

such misery and back to Europe, their homeland. However, I can assure the reader there 

was not one among them whose heart did not ache at the thought of leaving California 

and who, even if the position of his brethren in the Spanish monarchy had not changed, 

would not have gladly turned back in the middle of the homeward journey. 
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During the months of June and July, 1767, all the Jesuits of the many Mexican colleges and 

the not-too-distant missions were suddenly seized at night by armed forces, made 

prisoners, and led by dragoons to the port of Vera Cruz. It happened just as it did in 

Europe; at times entire regiments were used as though the Moors had to be faced in 

battle. To save the expense of a long, overland journey, the rest of the missionaries on the 

mainland (about fifty in number, from the missions of Sonora, Sinaloa and Pimería) were 

first led to a region in Sonora called Guaymas, on the shore of the California Sea below the 

twenty-eighth degree latitude, north. At the first opportunity, the missionaries were to be 
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shipped south to Matanchel (below the twenty-first degree), then overland three hundred 

hours to Santa Cruz. This was done. 

Guaymas is a desolate field (a former mission at this place was destroyed by the Seri 

Indians). No one lives there, and there is no human habitation within many hours of 

traveling. I saw it from a distance on my overland journey to the Yaqui creek. The heat in 

summer is very great, many rain and thunderstorms occur, and the cold in winter is such 

that at times a warm stove would be very welcome. The fifty missionaries spent nine 

months in this place under heavy military guard, living in a hut made of sticks and 

branches, which looked more like a cattle barn than a shelter for human beings. They 

were fed nothing but Indian corn, sun-dried beef, and mutton. After this encampment, 

they were finally put, like prisoners, in a small frigate where they could not even find 

ample sleeping space. The journey from Guaymas to Matanchel, which at another season 

with a north wind blowing is made in five or six days, lasted no less than forty-eight days. 

The first day's travel, after they had landed, was even worse than the seven weeks at sea. 

The march led through a great, low, swampy forest. It was summertime, the rainy season 

in that region, and it poured all day.[*] Many of the missionaries, overcome by fatigue, fell 

off their horses several times; others who preferred to walk often had to wade through 

water up to the knees. They reached the first cold shelter, thoroughly soaked by the rain, 

without having had anything to eat all day. After several more days of marching, they 

arrived in the region of the two Spanish-Mexican villages Aquatitlán and Istlán. Within a 

few days, twenty of the fifty 
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missionaries died and had to be buried. The hardships of Guaymas, the endless and 

thoroughly uncomfortable sea voyage, and the exhausting march of the first day brought 

on an attack of poisonous fever, and only seven escaped the sickness. Even those who 

survived suffered a long time afterward. 

On July 8, 1769, two years after their arrest, only thirty missionaries arrived in the Bay of 

Cádiz (Spain), and two of these soon died.[*] 

The Spanish gentlemen tried their best to hide the news of what had happened to the 

Jesuits in Mexico and on the other side of the California Sea from their colleagues in 

California. Thus we would not be induced to bury our treasures or escape with them to 

Shambadia (where, so the Jews say, the Kings of Judah live!). Nor would we be tempted to 

arm the Indians with the eight thousand rifles which, as the rumor had it, we were 
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supposed to be hiding in our houses. Therefore, contrary to custom, we did not receive 

any news from the other side for half a year, and during that summer the pearl fishers 

were not permitted to sail to California. 

Don Gaspar Portolá,[48] the duly appointed Governor of California,[**] was to sail to 

California. He had full instructions to build cities and fortifications there, and expel the 

"first conquerors of the land," if I may use this term. With two vessels he twice attempted 

to sail from Matanchel[49] to California, once in June and again in August, 1767. Both 

times, however, adverse winds forced him to turn back. With him 
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were twenty-five dragoons, an equal number of musketeers, and fourteen priests. His 

vanguard, however, sailing in a sloop, had the good luck to land toward the end of 

September three hours below Loreto. This group was seen by some local travelers and, by 

their uniforms, recognized as foreign guests. The strangers, however, would not tell what 

their intentions were, where they came from, or why they had come. They remained 

silent, reëmbarked at once, and sailed down the coast toward the territory in the south 

called La Paz. There, too, they kept absolutely silent. When, after some time, Portolá did 

not arrive and the provisions they had brought with them had been used, they sent to the 

mines for more, announcing that they were forbidden under penalty of death to reveal 

the reason for their arrival. Rather a superfluous precaution! With all that secrecy, the 

Spaniards did not find any more silver in California than if it had been known ten years 

earlier what was to happen in 1767. 

In the middle of October, Portolá tried a third trip across the water. This time he finally 

succeeded, though it took him forty-two days to cover a distance of about one hundred 

and fifty hours. He landed near Mission San José del Cabo, at the southernmost point of 

California. The real objective of his expedition had been to reach Mission Loreto, a 

hundred and fifty hours away, where he had hoped to surprise the missionary who was 

also the superintendent of all the missions, and by seizing him during the night, capture 

the treasures. Instead, he had to undertake this Loretan pilgrimage by land, which gave 

him the best opportunity (more than he liked) of observing with his own eyes on his 

arrival in this promised land how this beautiful and noble kingdom of California is level, 

shady, green, fertile, rich in water, and populous. 

Nobody enjoyed the landing at San José del Cabo more than the new soldiers. They had 

envisioned California as a land paved with silver, and had thought pearls could be swept 

up with a broom. Their joy did not last long. They soon cursed the country and would have 
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liked to leave it right away. Six only, together with the ensign, had this good fortune, 

however. Portolá commissioned them to guard us, glad at the same time to have seven 

mouths fewer in his company. 

The captain of the old California militia, Don Fernando Rivera y Moncada,[50] a man of 

great virtue, scrupulously conscientious and a faithful servant of the King of Spain, 

happened to be in this region when the Governor arrived in San José. Portolá secretly 

conferred with him 
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for several hours and was rudely shaken out of his dreams of California treasures, of the 

wealth of the missionaries, and of other such things. To tell the truth, there was some 

silver in all the churches, as I have mentioned before; but in the houses of the missionaries 

there was either none at all, as it was in mine and others, or if there was any, it 

represented values received for goods recently sold to the miners. This too I explained in 

Part Three, chapter seven. Such silver had already been designated for the churches or 

was to be used for the needy California natives. For this reason, the food for the Viceroy 

was served by the missionaries, not in silver as it was said he had expected, but in earthen 

vessels or in porcelain, of which every year the ship from the Philippines left a few pieces 

at San José del Cabo in payment for provisions. From that place the porcelain was freely 

distributed among the other missions. 

Gratitude as well as respect for his good name compels me to state here that Governor 

Don Gaspar Portolé (and all the other Spanish officials and non-officials wherever I met 

them on water or land on my return journey) treated the Jesuits, considering the 

circumstances, with respect, honor, politeness, and friendliness. He never caused the least 

annoyance, sincerely assuring us how painful it was to him to have to execute such a 

commission. On several occasions tears came to his eyes, and he was surprised to find 

Europeans willing to live and die in such a country. 

After having inspected the misery of San José and Santiago, he visited the poverty-stricken 

mines sixteen hours from there. There, too, he was astonished to see the poor huts and 

the apparent poverty of the miners. Then he completed all the necessary preparations for 

a land journey to Loreto. With more than forty people in his company he hastened his 

departure for Loreto, his future residence. He saw it with little comfort for the first time 

on December 17, after ten days of travel and forced marches. Only once on his journey did 

he find human beings and shelter at a mission; otherwise, his eyes saw nothing but stones 

and thorns, barren hills, dry rock, and waterless creeks. 
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The daily march was not just four or five hours, as is customary among soldiers, but ten 

and more. In California miles are not counted, only places where water is available for 

men and horses, and some hay or brush for the latter. 

At Loreto, Portolá sent for Father Ducrue,[51] at that time Superior of all the missions, and 

who was then staying at his own mission, 
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Guadalupe. He handed him a very polite letter from the Viceroy of Mexico, ordering him 

and all the other Jesuits by command of his Catholic Majesty to leave California in order to 

bring peace to the Spanish monarchy (although there was no war!). Portolá took over the 

accounts of the soldiers' pay and dispatched people to all the missions to inventory and 

take over all household goods, church fittings, and everything else. Spiritual care of the 

poor natives was omitted, for our clerical successors and the regular soldiers were still 

floundering somewhere on the sea. The Superior also sent a letter to each missionary, 

written in accordance with the will and desire of the Governor. All missionaries were 

ordered to assemble for embarkation at Loreto on January 25, 1768. The letter also 

requested that the missionaries keep the natives calm and preach the maintenance of 

peace. Since not enough time had been allowed for the journey to Loreto from the 

furthermost missions in the north, and also because an epidemic was raging among the 

Indians at San Borja, the missionaries did not arrive at Loreto until the second day of 

February. Portolá received all of them, as was the Spanish custom in greeting priests, by 

kissing their hands and embracing them with great politeness. 

Much could be told of the lamentations and tears of the Indians when the missionaries 

left their missions. They considered this departure a penalty (as it was meant to be), but 

knew of no previous crimes and had heard of none committed at any of the missions. 

They, like millions of others, did not know what to think or say. Among other causes for 

their alarm and distress was the fear that in the future they would no longer be provided 

with food and clothing.[*] It is a fact that, at least during the year of the departure of the 

Jesuits, the thousand guilders annually received from the endowed estates were not 

conceded to their successors. Moreover, in Mexico, hundreds and hundreds of mules 

which belonged to the California missions were now used for other services, since they 

were considered Jesuit property. In addition, our first successors, who were all Spanish 

Americans and had heard false rumors of the wealth of California, had invited many of 

their friends and relatives to sail with them to California. The natives did not know when 

their new shepherds 
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would arrive; many of them were afraid lest they die without receiving the Holy 

Sacraments, and so it really happened. It is enough to say that at Mission San Xavier 

(where, seven priests in all, we had assembled before we started our last day's journey to 

Loreto), after we had celebrated High Mass on the day of the Purification of St. Mary, such 

general crying and pitiful lamenting arose among all the natives present that I, too, was 

moved to tears and could not restrain myself from weeping all the way to Loreto. Even 

now, while I am writing this, tears enter my eyes. 

The natives did not know what to think of such an unexpected and sudden departure, and 

similarly, we did not know how to explain it to them. To speak of the persecution of the 

Jesuits would have meant as much to them as telling the inhabitants of New Holland or 

Novaya Zemlya something about the Westphalian peace or the papal bull Unigenitus . 

However, the twentieth chapter of the Acts of the Apostles, where St. Paul's farewell from 

the people of Miletus is described, would, in part at least, not be above their 

understanding. And these passages, together with some commentaries, were told to them 

by one of us as a farewell speech. 

The fourteen religious, our successors, and the twenty-five soldiers had even less luck 

during their sea passage than Don Portolá and his twenty-five dragoons. After sailing 

around a good deal, they finally had to land on the coast of Culiacán in Sinaloa and arrived 

at San José del Cabo shortly before we sailed from there. Exposed to adverse winds, they 

proceeded on the sea to Loreto. There they would find all the sick natives we left behind, 

blessed by the Holy Sacraments, but very much in need of the daily visits and help of a 

priest. And others they would find rotting in their graves. 

The fourteen new missionaries did not long remain in California. We met their successors 

two days' journey from where we landed on our way to Vera Cruz, looking for an 

opportunity to cross over to California. Thus the poor California Indians had three 

different shepherds of as many different orders within three to six months. Among these, 

only the members of one order could understand them and speak to them. The cause for 

this second change is well known to me, indeed far better than the reason for the first. I 

consider it, however, best to keep silent about the matter, although it would bring honor 

to those who departed first. 
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On the third day of February, we celebrated a solemn High Mass before the exceedingly 

beautiful picture of the Virgin of Loreto, which was draped in black as though it were 

Good Friday. Father Díaz,[52] a Mexican, delivered an excellent sermon, well adapted to 

the present circumstances, although a few hours before he had not thought of preparing 

it. On the same day, at nine o'clock in the evening, after a last and very friendly embrace 

by Don Portolá, we boarded, by royal order and in God's name, the ship. Although the 

march to the boat was supposed to proceed in silence, all the Loretans of both sexes were 

assembled at the shore to bid us their last farewell, and everyone, black and white, 

natives and Spaniards, was lamenting and weeping. 

We were sixteen Jesuits in all, fifteen priests and one lay brother; six were Spaniards, two 

Mexicans, and eight Germans. The latter were: Lambert Hostel, of Münstereifel in the 

Duchy of Jülich; Xavier Bischoff, of Glatz in Bohemia; Georg Rheds, of Coblenz; Franz 

Ináma, of Vienna in Austria; Benno Ducrue, of Munich in Bavaria; Ignatz Tirs, of Komotau 

in Bohemia; Wenceslaus Linck, of Joachimsthal in Bohemia; and I myself, from the upper 

Rhine. Exactly the same number, that is, sixteen Jesuits, one brother and fifteen priests, 

we left behind, buried in California. 

The journey on the sea, God be thanked, was a lucky one. We covered a distance of three 

hundred hours in five days. On the eighth day of February, we sighted the green shores of 

Matanchel with its high, dense forests and many green cedar trees. On the same day we 

disembarked. 

FINIS 
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